Carnegie Mellon University

CARNEGIE INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

THESIS

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE OF Doctor of Philosophy

Ammonia Emissions from Livestock in the United States:

From Farm-Level Models to a New National Inventory

PRESENTED BY Alyssa McQuilling

ACCEPTED BY THE DEPARTMENTS OF

TITLE

Civil and Environmental Engineering

Peter Adams

ADVISOR, MAJOR PROFESSOR

February 19, 2016

David A. Dzombak DEPARTMENT HEAD

February 19, 2016

APPROVED BY THE COLLEGE COUNCIL

Vijayakumar Bhagavatula February 23, 2016

DATE

Ammonia emissions from livestock in the United States:

From farm emissions models to a new national inventory

Submitted In Partial Fulfillment for the Requirements

For the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

CIVIL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING

Alyssa M. McQuilling

B.S., Environmental Engineering, North Carolina State University M.S., Civil and Environmental Engineering, Carnegie Mellon University

Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA

February, 2016

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am sincerely grateful to have spent the last five years at Carnegie Mellon University doing research with the Center for Atmospheric Particle Studies, and I am so glad to have met not only colleagues but friends in my research group. Special thanks to my fellow CAPS modelers. I cannot imagine having completed my studies anywhere else.

Many thanks to the members of my committee, Neil Donahue, Spyros Pandis, and Mitch Small, for all of the advice and insights provided throughout the past five years. Their help and mentorship was truly invaluable. Special thanks to my advisor, Peter Adams for not only advice, but for the flexibility and encouragement you gave me as I completed my work.

Many thanks to my family and to the friends I have made in Pittsburgh that have become like a second family to me. I am thankful for the support of my parents who always encouraged me to "just do my best" and for my sister who always competed with me in school and pushed me to do even better.

Finally, my thanks to my husband, JP, for his support, for listening to me practice all of my research talks, and for his patience over the more than five years that we lived in different states; I can't imagine having a better partner to share the graduate school experience with and am eternally grateful for his encouragement as we each pursued our degrees.

This research was supported by EPA Agreement Number: RD-83454901-0.

ABSTRACT

The role of nitrogen as an environmental pollutant has long been established, but the significance and amount of ammonia emitted from livestock production has not been well-characterized in the United States. In order to better characterize the impacts of ammonia as an air pollutant and its role in the formation of fine particulate matter, we have used a semi-empirical process-based model to estimate ammonia emissions from beef cattle, swine, layer chickens, and broiler chickens in the United States. The semiempirical model is used so that the ammonia emissions can be simulated using a mass balance on nitrogen through the farm, tracking nitrogen from housing, storage, and application of manure, in addition to being constrained by a number of tuned parameters which ensure that the resulting emission factors are realistic. In addition, model inputs, including manure pH, manure volume, manure nitrogen content and manure dry matter content are taken from the existing literature. These previous studies were the first means by which the FEMs were evaluated, with the FEMs able to capture 20-70% of the variability in reported emissions. Next, observations from the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study were used to further test and evaluate the model, including the evaluation in its performance to characterize seasonal as well as day-to-day variability in emissions of ammonia; here again, seasonal variability was well-characterized with slightly more mixed results for daily variability in ammonia emissions. Then, emissions from these single farms were summed over the entire populations of cattle, swine and poultry in the US, using data from the National Climate Data Center and USDA National Animal Health Monitoring Survey for appropriate meteorology and manure management practices in different locations. Emissions total 1.7 Tg from our model: 723 Gg from swine, 435 Gg from beef, 202 Gg from dairy, and 357 Gg from poultry. These inventories were compared to the National Emissions Inventory which estimates 1.9 Tg of ammonia emissions from livestock in 2011. This work has demonstrated the model's ability to characterize the variability in ammonia emissions from livestock and can be used to understand the air quality impacts of this variability.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
ABSTRACT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 13
CHAPTER 2: SEMI-EMPIRICAL PROCESS-BASED MODELS FOR AMMONIA EMISSIONS FROM BEEF, SWINE, AND POULTRY OPERATIONS IN THE US 22
CHAPTER 3: EVALUATING A PROCESS-BASED MODEL FOR LIVESTOCK AMMONIA EMISSIONS USING LONG-TERM MEASUREMENTS
CHAPTER 4: DEVELOPING A NEW NATIONAL INVENTORYDATA SOURCES, MANAGEMENT PRACTICES AND NH3 EMISSIONS
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS 122
REFERENCES127
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Key model inputs for beef, swine, and poultry manure management
Table 2.2. Practices included in tuned farm submodels 30
Table 2.3. Tuned model parameters for beef, swine, and poultry 37
Table 2.4. Practice-specific parameter values for beef, swine, and poultry
Table 2.5. Data sources used in model tuning/evaluation for beef, swine, and poultry 38
Table 2.6. Model evaluation statistics for beef, swine, and poultry FEMs 41
Table 3.1: Description and sources of model inputs and parameters
Table 3.2: Description of farms in the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS)including practices used, animal type and observation dates
Table 3.3: Errors and correlation coefficients for daily and seasonal model performance
Table 3.4: Annual Average Emissions Factor model performance by animal and farm type 76
Table S2.1. Sources of data used for model tuning and evaluation for beef, swine, andpoultry139
Table S4.1. State by state distribution of cattle on feed. 140
Table S4.2. State Animal Populations 141

LIST OF FIGURES

	Figure 1. 1.	(a) al	I US Ammonia	Sources	and (b) l	_ivestock	ammonia	sources ir	n the US
((Roe et al.,	2004)							16

Figure 2.3. Sample swine farms in Iowa (IA) and North Carolina (NC): a) IA farm with deep-pit housing, basin storage, irrigation application; b) IA farm with slatted-floor, lagoon, irrigation application; c) NC farm with deep-pit housing, basin storage, irrigation application; d) NC farm with slatted-floor housing, lagoon storage, irrigation application.

Figure 3.3: Comparing seasonal model performance for each animal type and management stage. Animal types and stages are as follows: a) free-stall dairy housing in NY (NY5B), b) dairy storage lagoon in IN (IN5A), c) shallow pit swine housing in NC

Figure 3.6: Comparison of modeled versus measured average annual emission factors for all farms monitored during NAEMS (dairy, swine, and poultry farms included).......75

Figure 4.3: Regional Distribution of swine manure management practices. The Midwest includes: ID, IA, MN, MT, ND, NE, SD, WI and WY. The Eastern states include CT, DE,

IL, IN, ME, MD, MA, MI, NH, NJ, NY, OH, PA, RI, and VT. The remainder of the states are included in the Southern region
Figure 4.4. Regional distribution of layer housing types. The West includes: AZ, CA, CO, ID, MT, NV, NM, OK, OR, TX, UT, WA, and WY. The Central states are: AR, IL, IN, IA, KS, MN, MO, NE, ND, OH, SD, and WI. Southeastern states are: AL, FL, GA, KY, LA, MS, NC, SC, TN, VA, WV. The remaining states are considered to be in the Northeast
Figure 4.5. Process to produce location and practice specific daily emission factors 96
Figure 4.6. Composite emission factors for a specific day, location, and animal type97
Figure 7. Total US Livestock Ammonia Emissions for swine, dairy, beef, layers, and broilers in tons NH3 emitted per day
Figure 4.8.Comparison of livestock NH ₃ emissions inventories from Pinder (2006) and 2011 inventory
Figure 4.9: Annual Ammonia flux from all livestock types (swine, dairy and beef cattle, and layer and broiler chickens) for each county in the United States (kg/km ² /year) 101
Figure 4.10: Typical regional contributions of housing, storage and application to total swine emissions
Figure 4.11. US Swine Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH ₃ /d. The arrow in the figure indicates a particularly warm day (for the winter) in both North Carolina and Iowa.
Figure 4.12. Annual swine ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km ^{2/} y. Intense production regions in Iowa and North Carolina are noted
Figure 4.13. Regional distribution of swine annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal/year)

Figure 4.14. US Beef Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH ₃ /d 107
Figure 4.15. Annual beef ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km ^{2/} y 108
Figure 4.16. Regional distribution of beef annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal/year)
Figure 4.17. US Dairy Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH ₃ /d
Figure 4.18. Annual ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km ^{2/} y. Dairy population is most concentrated in the San Joaquin Valley, CA and Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, and New York
Figure 4.19. Regional distribution of dairy annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal/year)
Figure 4.20. US Layer Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH ₃ /d113
Figure 4.21. Annual ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km ^{2/} y. Layer population is most concentrated in counties throughout the Midwest and across the Southeast
Figure 4.22. Regional distribution of layer annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal unit/year)
Figure 4.23. US Broiler Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH ₃ /d 116
Figure 4.24. Annual broiler ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km ^{2/} y. Broiler population is most concentrated in counties throughout the Mid-Atlantic and across the Southeast
Figure 4.25. Regional emission factor distribution for broilers, in kg/animal unit/year. 118
Figure 4.26. Comparison of NEI 2011v2 results and our FEM-based inventory 120

Figure S3.3: All measurement-model comparisons for seasonal model performance for dairy storage. Farms are of the following production stage and have the following types of housing a) IN5 (lagoon), b) TX5 (drylot), c) WA5 (lagoon), and d) WI5 (lagoon)..... 144

Figure S3.8: Daily variability in NAEMS data captured by model for: a free-stall dairy house in Indiana during a) December 2007 and b) July 2008, a free-stall dairy house in

Figure S3.11: Daily variability in NAEMS data captured by model for: a swine basin in lowa during a) January 2008 and b) June 2008, a swine lagoon North Carolina (NC3) during c) February 2008 and d) June 2008, a swine lagoon in North Carolina (NC4) during e) January 2008 and f) September 2008, a swine lagoon Oklahoma (OK3) during g) November-December 2008 and h) July 2008, and a swine lagoon in Oklahoma (OK4) during i) January 2008 and j) July 2008.

Figure S4.1: County-level swine population (2012)	153	,

- Figure S 4.2: County-level dairy cattle population (2012)......154
- Figure S4.3: County-level beef cattle population (2012)......155

Figure S4.4: County-level layer chicken population	on (2012) 156
--	---------------

Figure S4.5: County-level broiler chicken population (2012)......157

Figure S4.7: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Illinois, and Indiana. Emissions are shown in tons NH₃ per day.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Ammonia: a critical air pollutant

Ammonia, NH₃, causes numerous negative impacts on the environment and human health. Ammonia is also an irritant and corrosive at high concentrations. It contributes to the eutrophication of ecosystems through nitrogen deposition. Acute exposures to high levels of ammonia are associated with severe, permanent damage to the lungs (Leduc et al., 1992). Through the advent of the Haber process that allows for the industrial fixing of nitrogen into reduced forms, large amounts of reduced nitrogen are environmentally available and "will... cause damage to environmental services at local, regional, and global scales due to a large increase in reactive N load in the environment" (Galloway et al., 2008). Effects of excess nitrogen on ecosystems include "water pollution and reduced biological diversity" (American Chemical Society, 2011). Perhaps most importantly, ammonia emissions result in the formation of fine particulate matter (PM) which causes damage to human health and the environment (Draaijers et al., 1989; Erisman et al., 1998; Krewski et al., 2003; Pope and Dockery, 2006).

Specifically, fine PM is comprised of a mixture of organic and inorganic components, and the key inorganic components of PM are sulfate, nitrate, and ammonium (from ammonia emissions) (USEPA, 2004). These three species react in the atmosphere to form fine PM, also called PM_{2.5} (particles with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5 microns or less), and while sulfate and nitrate concentrations have decreased over the past few decades as a result of the sulfur dioxide cap and trade regime implemented by the US EPA and tighter regulations of NOx emissions, ammonia emissions have not been

reduced, and are even expected to increase as agricultural production has intensified (National Research Council: AdHoc Committee on Air Emissions from Animal Feeding Operations, 2003; Rico, 1995).

In the formation of fine inorganic PM, ammonium first reacts to neutralize atmospheric sulfate; any leftover or free ammonia reacts with nitrate to form ammonium nitrate, and this reaction can be especially important during winter because this reaction is more thermodynamically favorable at lower ambient temperatures (Seinfeld and Pandis, 2012; Stanier et al., 2012). Because of the sensitivity of ammonium nitrate formation to ammonia emissions, especially during cold temperatures, it is vital to understand how ammonia emissions vary throughout the course of the year. Furthermore, ammonia is important in terms of both the mass of particulate matter in the atmosphere, described above, but also in relation to the formation of new particles. In ternary nucleation (a type of new particle formation), ammonia, sulfuric acid, and water form new particles, especially in lower altitudes where there is more ammonia present. This has been proposed as a mechanism (Kulmala, 2003) as well as observed in the laboratory (Ball and Hanson, 1999; Yu, 2006) and the atmosphere (Weber et al., 1999).

Currently, the National Ambient Air Quality Standards directly regulate levels of pollutants by specifying the maximum allowable ambient concentrations of six important air pollutants including particulate matter (PM) of both coarse and fine (aerodynamic diameter less than 2.5 µm) sizes (USEPA, 2014). Since ammonia contributes to the formation of fine PM it is possible that in order to control fine PM levels, ammonia emissions will need to be limited in the future. Alternatively, the regulation of ammonia

could also be pursued under the Community-right-to-know Act which currently requires the reporting of releases of ammonia of greater than 100 pounds per 24 hours (45 kg per 24 hours) to the EPA for (industrial) point sources. Though agricultural sources are currently not included in this statute, many of the practices in common use, particularly the production of animals at concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs) more closely resemble point sources than the area sources that they are currently considered to be. If this regulation is implemented, large agricultural operations would be treated as industrial point sources. Currently, the implementation of this statute would be difficult because of limited agricultural monitoring and lack of data about the emission factors for different types of livestock (Donham et al., 2002; Martin, 2008; NIOSH et al., 1992). Even with current projects, including recent large measurement campaigns (i.e. National Air Emissions Monitoring Study, NAEMS), the entire range of variables that can be encompassed in the management and production of beef cattle, poultry, and swine in the United States are still not measured.

As mentioned above, the key ammonia emissions sources in the United States are from agriculture, specifically from the production of livestock. Ammonia from cattle, swine, and poultry accounts for 55% to 75% of total nation ammonia emissions (Battye et al., 1994, 2003; Galloway et al., 2008), and the characterization and estimation of emissions from these sectors are addressed in the following chapters.

Much of the current research on ammonia focuses on the monitoring of emissions from animal agriculture, and trying to estimate per animal emission factors under a variety of meteorological conditions and differing management practices as emissions can vary greatly based on differences in temperature, wind, precipitation and manure management practices. Figure 1.1a shows the typical contributions of various sectors to the total United States ammonia emission inventory, while Figure 1.1b displays animal type contributions to livestock ammonia emissions in the United States.





According to recent inventories, approximately 70% of US ammonia emissions are from livestock production. Of that fraction, 95% of the emissions come from the following sources: 18% from swine, 27% from beef cattle, 23% from dairy cattle, and 27% from poultry, which includes both broiler chickens (produced for meat) and layer chickens (egg-producers).

1.2 Ammonia Emissions: Measurements and Sources of Variability

There are significant limitations to the ammonia emissions data available for beef, swine and poultry in the United States because there are limited resources available for the measurement of ammonia emissions. There is no way for emissions for each type of animal to be monitored under every possible condition and for every farm configuration since ammonia emissions depend on meteorology, management practices used, nitrogen in the feed and manure characteristics.

Higher temperatures result in an increase in the volatility of the ammoniacal nitrogen and lead to greater ammonia emissions. Higher wind speeds reduce surface resistance to mass transfer causing higher ammonia emissions. Finally, precipitation inhibits ammonia emission because it causes greater amounts of ammonia to infiltrate into the soil during either manure storage or application. Differences in management practices from farm to farm results include housing type, ranges and sources of crude protein in animal diet, manure storage time and conditions, frequency of pen or house-cleaning (cleaning is often associated with a burst of ammonia emissions), and methods of manure application also contribute to ammonia emissions variability.

Quantitatively, these differences in practices have been estimated to result in a range of annual emission factors from dairy cattle from 13 kg NH₃/year to 55 kg NH₃/year (Pinder et al., 2004b) and a range of daily emission factors from beef in the literature ranging from ~30 g NH₃/head/day to more than 200 g NH₃/head/day. For swine, similar ranges in emissions have been observed, with the greatest variability seen for swine manure storages which range from <1 g NH₃/head/day to more than 100 g NH₃/head/day (during the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS) particularly under warm, dry conditions). Poultry emissions also show a wide range, but are less driven by environmental conditions than those from dairy, beef or swine; layer emissions range from <100 g/AU/day to more than 500 g/AU/d (where AU = animal unit or 500 kg live

animal weight). Broiler emissions depend strongly on animal age and can range from <100 g/AU/day to more than 1500 g/AU/day.

Published emission factors in the literature and from large scale monitoring campaigns (like the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study, NAEMS) only capture a small fraction of the meteorology, manure management practices, and manure characteristics that exist throughout the United States. Therefore, in order to estimate the ammonia emissions from farms which have not been monitored, we need a way to model ammonia emissions based on their meteorology and farm management practices.

1.3 Process-Based Models as a tool for estimating varying emissions Traditional methods of developing emission inventories have relied on single emission factors which do not take into account meteorology or practices and how they differ across locations. Newer inventories may take into account empirical models that represent ammonia emissions as a function of a single variable, like temperature, in order to characterize some of the observed variability in emissions from different animal types. This approach has been employed for manure storages and broiler houses by EPA (USEPA-OAQPS, 2012) for the NAEMS farms and in the development of the most recent National Emission Inventory (NEI2011v2) (USEPA-OAQPS, 2015a). However, there are serious limitations to these methods as these empirical models are also often limited in their applicability in terms of conditions or locations for which their use is appropriate. An alternative to these purely empirical approaches is the process-based model.

Process-based models characterize variability in ammonia emissions by conducting a mass balance on the system, tracking a particular species, in this case ammoniacal nitrogen, throughout the entire system, breaking the production process into different stages to characterize all the emissions processes. This mass balance also describes emissions as a function of meteorological parameters and management practices. As stated, our farm emissions models are semi-empirical as they are based on a nitrogen mass balance with inputs of meteorological parameters and management practices to obtain the desired output of ammonia emissions as a function of time but will also be constrained through the use of tuned parameters to ensure agreement with previously reported ammonia emission factors. Our farm emission model (FEM) approach allows use to evaluate the model for consistency with measured emission factors, maintain consistency by tracking the actual nitrogen available for emission (rather than as a function of an environmental variable), and estimate uncertainty in our model's estimates of ammonia emissions, producing seasonally variable and daily variable. Furthermore, we can use these farm-level models to construct a temporally and spatially variable ammonia emissions inventory for swine, beef, dairy, layer, and broiler production in the United States. These FEMs are evaluated for both seasonal and daily performance for beef, swine, poultry and dairy ammonia emissions in Chapters 2 and 3.

1.4 A spatially and temporally variable livestock ammonia emissions inventory for the United States

As stated above, previous ammonia emissions inventories used a simple emission factor approach in their construction, where each source of emissions had an emission

factor and an activity level, so emissions were simply calculated as shown in the equation below.

Emissions
$$\left(\frac{kg}{y}\right) = Emission Factor (EF) \left(\frac{kg}{animal * year}\right) \times Activity (\# of animals)$$

The current NEI (National Emission Inventory) calculates the emissions for each source of agricultural ammonia as a function of the daily average temperature for a particular location; however, this does not capture all of the variability in ammonia emissions because it does not account for differences in emissions caused by other meteorological factors or differences in regional manure management practices.

The daily-resolved, county-level emission inventory described in Chapter 4 takes into account not only the effects of temperature, but also wind speed, precipitation, and the regional distribution of manure management practices for each animal type. By developing such a highly-resolved ammonia emissions inventory for livestock, we hope to be able to better estimate the effects of these emissions on other air quality problems, especially PM concentrations. Based on these results, we can begin to better understand the impacts of animal agriculture.

1.5 Inventory evaluation and data robustness

After the creation of a new inventory for ammonia emissions from beef, swine and poultry, we will need to evaluate our inventory. The first step of this process is discussed in Chapter 4 and is done through the comparison of the annual total emissions for swine, beef, dairy, layer, and broiler production for 2011 to the same

totals produced by our FEM-based approach. Additional future evaluation will be done by implementing our process-based inventory in a chemical transport model and comparing the concentration data produced to data available from the National Atmospheric Deposition Program (NADP) and the Ammonia Monitoring Network (AMoN). The new Ammonia Monitoring Network (AMoN) will provide another source of data to compare to the results of the model. The AMoN network is comprised of more than 60 sites (as of 2014) with passive samplers which provide 2-week average gaseous ammonia concentrations, often co-located with sites in the National Atmospheric Deposition Program sites.

1.6 Research Objectives

- Develop farm-level process-based models to track nitrogen through the production system for beef cattle, swine and poultry for farms throughout the United States and evaluate seasonal model performance based on data from published literature.
- Evaluate farm-level models using long-term observations from the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS) at seasonal and daily time resolution for swine, dairy, layer and broiler farms.
- Build a national inventory for ammonia emissions from beef, swine and poultry based on results from farm-level data, national animal population data (with county level resolution), and estimates of distributions of management practices and compare the inventory results to total livestock ammonia emissions in the 2011 NEIv2.

CHAPTER 2: SEMI-EMPIRICAL PROCESS-BASED MODELS FOR AMMONIA EMISSIONS FROM BEEF, SWINE, AND POULTRY OPERATIONS IN THE US

2.1 Abstract

Farm-level ammonia emissions factors in the literature vary by an order of magnitude due to manure management practices and meteorology, and it is essential to capture this variability in emission inventories used for atmospheric modeling. Loss of ammonia to the atmosphere is described here through a mass balance on nitrogen that incorporates a mass transfer resistance parameter, which varies with meteorological conditions and is tuned to match literature-reported emissions factors. The tuned parameters are specific to each set of management practices, while meteorological conditions may vary. Our farm emissions models (FEMs) explain between 20% and 70% of the variability in published emissions factors and typically estimate emission factors within a factor of 2. The R values are: 0.72 for swine housing (0.82 for shallowpit houses); 0.48 for swine storage; 0.53 for broiler chickens; 0.87 for layer chickens; and 0.21 for beef feedlots (0.36 for beef feedlots with more farm-specific input data). Mean fractional error was found to be 22-44% for beef feedlots, swine housing, and layer housing; fractional errors were greater for swine lagoons (90%) and broiler housing (69%). Unexplained variability and errors result from: model limitations, measurement errors in reported emissions factors, and a lack of information about measurement conditions.

2.2 Introduction

Ammonia is a significant air pollutant because of its impacts to land, water, and human health through eutrophication, deposition, and the fine particulate matter formation (PM). Excessive ammonia leads to the eutrophication of pristine terrestrial ecosystems and many waterways (Draaijers et al., 1989). Deposition of nitrogen oxides and sulfur dioxide, has decreased in recent years; however, ammonia emissions have not decreased during this period (Driscoll et al., 2001; Fenn et al., 2003). Ammonia is a key component in the formation of fine PM (Ansari and Pandis, 1998), especially nitrate PM, as gas-phase nitric acid condenses only when ammonia is available for neutralization. Ammonium nitrate formation depends on: the amount of ammonia present, temperature, relative humidity and other pollutant concentrations (West et al., 1999). Because ammonium nitrate formation is temperature-dependent, the spatiotemporal variations in ammonia emissions can have a significant impact on the formation of PM. As ammonium nitrate formation is favored at colder temperatures, emissions in winter can have a greater impact on particulate matter formation than ammonia emitted in warmer seasons. The control of PM is so important because fine PM has been linked to respiratory ailments, cardiac events, and premature death (American Lung Association, 2006; Pope and Dockery, 2006).

Ammonia is emitted from several sources, but in the United States, the animal livestock sector contributes 70-90% of total national emissions (Battye et al., 1994, 2003; Bouwman et al., 1997; Pinder et al., 2006), mostly from dairy and beef cattle, swine, and poultry. Ammonia emissions from livestock are expected to increase as animal

populations continue to grow and production intensifies to meet greater global demands (USEPA, 2004). Emissions of ammonia occur throughout the entire livestock production process—from animal housing, storages, and applied manure.

Early ammonia emission inventories relied on static emission factors (EF) to estimate the livestock contribution to the national ammonia emission inventory. However, it has been demonstrated that ammonia emissions are strongly dependent on meteorology, nutrition, and manure management; a single emission factor is unable to capture this variability (Ad Hoc Committee on Air Emissions from Animal Feeding Operation (National Research Council), 2003). The 2011 NEIv2 has added a temperature dependence to the emissions profile for ammonia, but the effects of management practices are still uncaptured. More recent work has attempted to account for some of this variability by using regression to relate an important parameter, e.g. temperature or animal age, to the emission factor (Rotz and Oenema, 2006), but it is still difficult to capture all the factors that cause variability in emissions.

Given the need to capture seasonal and regional variations in ammonia emissions for PM_{2.5} modeling, the goal of this work is to build process-based models of ammonia emissions used for building national/regional emissions inventories. While complex, first principle process-based models may be able to characterize more emissions, they are computationally intensive and require detailed input data which is unlikely to be available for all farms and practices (Zhang et al., 2005). While they may reproduce emissions behaviors at specific farms with well-characterized conditions, their utility for building emissions inventories has not yet been demonstrated.

Our model is a balance between an empirical approach and first-principles processbased model. We use a nitrogen mass balance and a process description of ammonia losses, but tune model parameters to reproduce measured emissions factors. We limit model complexity to the most important emissions processes and to inputs that are typically available. The strategy pursued here for developing process-based models is guided by the need to build emissions inventories, and the requirements and data limitations associated with this application. Previous measurement campaigns also often sampled emissions from a single part of the production process. This means that we may not have information about the emissions process from the start to end of production, making nitrogen mass balance in the system difficult. The lack of wholefarm measurements is one gap in much of the literature available and a benefit of the estimates of ammonia emissions produced by the FEM.

In this chapter, we describe the adaptation and evaluation of previously developed process-based ammonia emissions models for beef cattle, swine, broiler and layer emissions based on the existing model framework called the FEM (for dairy cows) which conducts a mass balance on system nitrogen and water volume (Hutchings et al., 1996; Pinder et al., 2004a). Our model relies on input parameters to reproduce ammonia emissions for different farms, including meteorology, management practices and manure characteristics. The previous studies addressed only grazing cattle (Hutchings et al., 1996) and mature dairy cows (Pinder et al., 2004a).

2.3 Model Description

2.3.1 Model Overview

Our FEM captures ammonia emissions variability (caused by differences in meteorology, practices, and manure) through the use of a semi-empirical processbased model while constraining overall emissions via mass balance on available nitrogen in the farm system. For each livestock type, the FEM is composed of a series of submodels, each of which treats a different stage of manure management: housing (or grazing), storage, and application. The manure management trains for each livestock type are shown in Figures 2.1a-c, while the inputs, outputs, and time step of each submodel are shown in Figure 2.1d. Submodel configuration for each livestock type and management practices is detailed in Table 2.2.

The model uses inputs for farm type, manure nitrogen, and meteorological conditions to predict farm-specific ammonia emissions. Meteorological data are from the National Climate Data Center (NCDC), based on the time and location of the literature studies used in tuning if not directly provided. Farming practices and nitrogen inputs were based on literature-reported values for beef, swine and poultry from ammonia emissions measurement studies and animal nutrition research (Table 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Waste and nitrogen flows used in the farm emissions models (FEMs) for a) beef cattle, b) swine, and c) poultry. Figure 2.1d shows how data flows through our submodels, showing how farm and meteorological input data are combined with the submodel's tuned parameters to produce emission factors and provide a mass balance which is passed along to subsequent submodels.

The model uses inputs for farm type, manure nitrogen, and meteorological conditions to

predict farm-specific ammonia emissions. Meteorological data are from the National

Climate Data Center (NCDC), based on the time and location of the literature studies

used in tuning if not directly provided. Farming practices and nitrogen inputs were

based on literature-reported values for beef, swine and poultry from ammonia emissions

measurement studies and animal nutrition research (Table 2.1).

Parameter Name	Animal Type	Range of Values	Value used *	Units	Source
	Beef cattle	12-17	15	liters animal ⁻¹ day ⁻¹	(Pinder et al., 2004b; VanHorn, 1998)
Manure	Swine	4-10	6	liters animal ⁻¹ day ⁻¹	(Chastain et al., 1999)
Volume	Poultry- Layer	0.088	0.088	liters animal ⁻¹ day ⁻¹	(Lacey et al., 2003)
	Poultry- Broiler	4.9	4.9	liters finished animal-1	(ASAE, 2005)
Manuro	Beef cattle Swine	47-70 11-30	60 19	kg N animal ⁻¹ year ⁻¹ kg N animal ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	(ASAE, 2005) (ASAE, 2005)
Urea	Poultry- Layer	0.5-0.6	0.55	kg N animal ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	(ASAE, 2005)
Content	Poultry- Broiler	0.05-0.06	0.055	kg finished animal ⁻¹	(ASAE, 2005)
	Beef cattle Swine	7.7 6.5-7.5	7.7 7		(Cole et al., 2009) (Lim et al., 2004)
Housing pH	Poultry- Layer	7.1-7.6 (MB); 8.4-8.7	7.3		(Bolan et al., 2010; Liang et al., 2005)
	Poultry- Broiler	8	8		(Ferguson et al., 1998)
Storage nH	Swine	7.5 – 8	7.7		(Arogo et al., 2003)
pri	Beef cattle Swine	7.5 7.8 - 8.2	7.5 8		(Rotz and Oenema, 2006) (Safley et al., 1992)
Application pH	Poultry- Layer	7.2	7.2		(Sommer & Hutchings, 2001)
	Poultry- Broiler	8.8	8.8		(Coufal et al., 2006)
Grazing pH	Beef cattle	7.7	7.7		(Pinder et al., 2004b)

Table 2.1. Key model inputs for beef, swine, and poultry manure management

Note: default input values are used only when other data is unavailable. MB=manure-belt; HR=high-rise layer housing

2.3.2 Animal Nitrogen

Nitrogen is used by animals for weight gain and growth, bodily maintenance, and commodity production, but animals do not use all the nitrogen that they are fed. Unused nitrogen is then excreted as waste. If we better understand nitrogen use efficiency, we can better constrain the amount of total ammoniacal nitrogen (TAN) available for volatilization as ammonia. Literature studies have shown that more waste nitrogen leads to higher manure ammonia emissions (Cole et al., 2006; Ferguson et al., 1998; Rotz, 2004; Todd et al., 2006).

Nearly of 80% of the nitrogen cattle are fed is excreted as urine or feces (Yan et al., 2007). For swine, 45-60% of dietary nitrogen intake is excreted as waste. Poultry can be divided into two types: broilers or layers, raised for their meat and eggs respectively. Broilers use 40-50% of their nitrogen intake, with the remainder excreted as waste (Jorgensen et al., 1990). For layers, fed nitrogen is partitioned between metabolism, egg production and waste, with 50-60% of dietary nitrogen excreted.

Animal wastes are composed of urine and feces. Most emissions come from urine, as its nitrogen is easily broken down into ammonia and the liquid allows for easier mass transfer than from feces. For beef, there are emissions from the solid fraction of wastes, but there is little information in the literature to constrain these emissions and so a constant emission factor of 3 kg yr⁻¹ was used. For swine and layers, manure is stored as liquid slurry without a solid fraction that needs to be handled separately. For broilers, wastes are deposited on litter material in their housing and the waste is removed from the house after a production cycle and contains broilers' excrement and the litter material; manure characteristics are described (by type) in Table 2.1.

2.3.3 Ammonia Volatilization and Emissions Equation

The FEMs for each animal type, submodel, and practice have unique tuned parameter values, but the process is described by the same mass balance and mass transfer equations. All of the practices tuned in the model are described in Table 2.2 and the

degree to which each submodel was tuned was dictated by the amount of literature data available. For "fully tuned" submodels, sufficient data was present in the literature to characterize the variability in emissions from that phase of production. For the submodels that were modified from the dairy FEM (Pinder et al., 2004b), less data was available in the literature, so the dairy submodel was used as a basis and adjusted. For beef application, where very little data was published, estimates of emissions were limited to constant emission factors of ammonia; in this case, we expect a small portion of the overall emissions to occur during this stage of manure management.

Animal Type	Housing Submodel	Level of Tuning	Storage Submode I	Level of Tuning	Application Submodel	Level of Tuning	Grazing Submode I	Level of Tuning
Beef	Feedlot	Fully tuned	n/a	n/a	Solid/ broadcast application	Constant value used	Pasture	Based on modified dairy FEM
Swine	Deep pit, slatted floor	Fully tuned	Lagoon, Basin, Tank	Lagoon was fully tuned, basin and tank used modified dairy FEM	Injection, trailing hose, irrigation	Based on modified dairy FEM	n/a	n/a
Broiler	Litter system	Fully tuned	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Layer	High-rise, manure belt	Fully tuned	n/a	n/a	n/a (transfer offsite)	n/a	n/a	n/a

Table 2.2. Practices included in tuned farm submodels

Ammonia volatilization occurs at the surface of the liquid manure solution and is transported to the atmosphere above the wastes. Equation 1 is used as the basis for calculating emissions in each of the individual submodels of the beef, swine, and poultry models, previously used in the dairy FEM.

$$EF = A * [TAN] * H^* * r^{-1}$$
(1)

In this equation, the emissions factor (kg day⁻¹ animal⁻¹ or kg day⁻¹ animal unit (AU) ⁻¹) is described by A, the area fouled by excretion (m^2 animal⁻¹) that depends on the stocking density of the animals, often reported in the literature, [TAN], the total ammoniacal nitrogen concentration in the waste (kg m⁻³), the effective Henry's law constant, H^* , describing the equilibrium of the ammoniacal nitrogen in the system (dimensionless), and r is the mass transfer resistance (day m^{-1}). The resistance parameter, r, describes how mass transfer of ammonia between phases is inhibited. As in dry deposition models, this resistance consists of three components (Equation 1b): the aerodynamic (r_a) , quasi-laminar (r_b) , and surface resistances (r_s) (Wesely and Hicks, 1977). The aerodynamic and quasi-laminar resistances are used to describe the resistance to transport in the gaseous layer above the animal wastes (Olesen and Sommer, 1993; Sommer and Hutchings, 2001; Sommer and Olesen, 2000). The surface resistance is resistance due to diffusion through the layer of manure nearest the gas-liquid interface. Here, the surface resistance is tuned so modeled EFs agree with published literature data for the FEM.

Each submodel in the FEMs for beef cattle, swine and poultry rely on three mass balance equations that track the changes over time in manure volume, *V*, urea concentration and total ammoniacal nitrogen concentration (Equations 2-4).

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = k_{load} + k_p A - k_e A - k_i A \tag{2}$$

$$\frac{d[urea]}{dt} = k_{load}C_{urea}V^{-1} - k_{urea}[urea] - A[urea]k_iV^{-1}$$
(3)
$$\frac{d[TAN]}{dt} = k_{urea}C_T[urea] - A[TAN]H^*r^{-1} - A[TAN]k_iV^{-1}$$
(4)

The first equation describes how manure volume changes over time. Volume increases as manure is deposited to the surface (k_{load}) and by precipitation (for outdoor practices) as k_p (the precipitation loading rate), multiplied by the area where manure is deposited. Volume is lost via emission and infiltration, described by the k_eA and k_iA terms, respectively. Equation 3 describes how urea concentration changes over time; urea mass is added when waste is excreted and decreases via its hydrolysis, described by the $k_{urea}[urea]$ term; infiltration below the surface is described by $A[urea]k_iV^{-1}$. Equation 4 describes how [*TAN*] changes in the system over time due to the increase as a result of urea breakdown, and losses due to volatilization and infiltration. The units of k depend on the equation, but each describes the rate at of a process (e.g. the units of k_{load} are L h⁻¹).

2.3.3.1 Housing Submodel

For beef, feces and urine are deposited to the feedlot surface. Thus, d[TAN]/dt is driven by temperature, wind speed, precipitation, and volume changes resulting from evaporation and infiltration. The r_s for beef feedlots is tuned as a function of temperature and wind speed, u, plus a constant resistance, c, of 3 s•m⁻¹.

$$r_s = H_1 T + H_2 u + c \tag{5}$$

Swine and poultry housing parameters are more similar in form to the earlier dairy FEM, where animals are housed enclosed and indoors (Equation 6). Thus, resistance can be estimated using only outdoor temperature and not wind-speed or precipitation. Outdoor temperature is used because it drives indoor ventilation rates and is correlated with emissions factors.

$$r_s = H_1 + H_2 T \tag{6}$$

We have characterized two types of swine housing in our FEM: slatted floor (shallowpit) and deep-pit housing. The first is found commonly in the Southeast and manure is removed frequently, leaving a high-nitrogen waste product in storage. Deep-pit housing is common in the Midwest and transfers manure less often, resulting in greater housing emissions and less in storage.

Poultry production includes two animal types: broilers and layers. Broilers are raised for meat and have a production cycle of approximately 6-7 weeks, while layers are raised for eggs and have a longer life cycle. Broilers reside in litter-based housing systems that are partially cleaned out after each cycle. Layers are housed in either high-rise or manure-belt houses. High-rise systems only remove manure every few months. In contrast, manure-belt systems remove manure frequently which limits housing ammonia emissions.

2.3.3.2 Storage Submodel

Storage emissions from the manure removed from beef feedlots have not been wellcharacterized in the literature so the beef FEM does not include a storage submodel. Similarly, poultry manure storage receives little coverage in the literature so we are unable to create and tune a model for poultry manure storage. Swine manure storage, has been studied relatively extensively, and there are many ammonia EFs in the literature. In this submodel, we consider lagoons and storage basins. Resistance is related to the ability of the storage surface to form a crust. A crust inhibits mass transfer of ammonia from the wastes to the atmosphere.

2.3.3.3 Application Submodel

Manure application method is dependent on the manure dry matter content. Beef feedlot wastes are scraped as a solid from the surface of the feedlot after production. While emissions from the feedlot surface have been reported in the literature; emissions from the application of beef feedlot manure have not. As a result, we have used a constant emission factor of 3 kg year⁻¹ in our submodel, which falls on the lower end of the range specified previously for dairy cows, since emissions from beef cattle are expected to be lower as a result of their lower dietary nitrogen requirements (Pinder et al., 2004b). Application emissions from swine have been better characterized in the literature. We have information about emissions from application via irrigation, trailing hose, and injection. Using data from the literature, we are able to tune model parameters to describe nitrogen infiltration. A_T is a constant specific to application method, used in the calculation of the mass transfer resistance. Equation 7 then relates the infiltration rates used in Equations 2-4 to soil permeability, *Ki*, and *DMC*, dry matter content to the rate of infiltration, which affects ammonia volatilization. The infiltration

rate is further constrained by parameters A_2 and A_3 , which are unitless, tuning to ensure agreement with literature-reported EFs.

$$k_i = K_i \times 10^{[A_2 + A_3 DMC]} \tag{7}$$

Too little data exists in the literature to constrain estimates for emissions from the application of poultry manure for broilers or layers. Additionally, a significant fraction of poultry manure is re-processed for use in feed and other applications.

2.3.3.4 Grazing Submodel

Emissions from beef cattle raised on pasture were treated similarly to dairy cattle raised on pasture, increasing the excreted nitrogen because they are not producing milk. Additionally, using the limited literature data available, we made sure our submodel produced reasonable estimates of ammonia emissions. This submodel has previously been described in work on mature dairy cattle by Pinder (2004). Emission factors for grazing cattle in the literature range from <5 g NH₃/animal/day (Van Der Hoek, 1998) to greater than 30 g NH₃/animal/day. The FEM typically predicts emission factors of 5-20 g NH₃/animal/day.

2.3.4 Ammonia Equilibrium and Nitrogen and Volume Changes

Ammonia emissions from livestock result primarily from the breakdown of urea in the animals' urine by the urease enzyme (Udert et al., 2003) into ammonia, which partitions into the air and waste as ammonia gas and ammonium in solution. Our model assumes a 2-hour timescale (Monteny and Erisman, 1998) for the breakdown of urea into TAN
and proceeds once waste nitrogen has been converted into TAN. In manure liquid, ammonium and ammonia reach equilibrium according to their acid-base equilibrium constant, K_a . After equilibrium is reached, ammonia is partitioned between the waste's aqueous phase and the gas phase above it. The partitioning can be described by Henry's law constant, K_h . The effective Henry's law constant can then be described as a ratio of the gas phase ammonia to the total ammoniacal nitrogen in the solution, H^* , and described in previous work by Pinder, et al., shown in Equation 8:

$$H^* = \frac{[NH_{3(g)}]}{[TAN]} = \frac{K_a}{K_h[H^+] + K_a(1 + K_h^{-1})}$$
(8)

TAN concentration depends on the amount of nitrogen in the excreta and the volume of excreta. A more concentrated sample will have a higher *[TAN]*, so processes affecting manure volume impact equilibrium. Volume can be affected by: precipitation (increasing volume), soil infiltration, and runoff (decreasing volume). The submodels incorporate both precipitation and infiltration into the characterization of ammonia emissions from beef, swine, and poultry. Runoff is not explicitly treated because significant runoff is largely coincident with low ammonia emissions and would not contribute significantly to the overall ammonia emissions profile (Todd et al., 2008).

2.3.5 Input Data and Parameter Tuning

Input data were taken from the literature to better constrain the model to reported farm conditions (Table 2.1). Values used are selected because they fell in the middle of the range reported in literature. Several papers reported manure nitrogen content for a range of fed nitrogen values, as well as the emissions of ammonia from these animals,

so specific values were used (where available) because ammonia emissions are highly sensitive to this parameter.

To ensure our FEMs produce realistic EFs, we used literature data to tune parameters related to r_s in mass transfer equations (Equations 2-4). Their descriptions and values are in Tables 2.3-2.4.

Submodel	Animal Type	Description	Tuning/Evaluation Sources
Housing	Beef cattle, Swine, Poultry-Layer, Poultry-Broiler	Resistance parameters <i>H</i> ₁ , <i>H</i> ₂ (Eq. 6)	1- 4
Storage	Swine	Resistance parameters S_1 , S_2	5
Application	Beef cattle, Swine, Poultry-Layer, Poultry-Broiler	Resistance parameters A_1, A_2, A_3 (Eq. 8)	6-9
Grazing	Beef Cattle	Resistance parameters G_1 , G_2 (similar to Eq. 8)	10

Table 2.3. Tuned model parameters for beef, swine, and poultry

1. (Cole et al., 2006; Hristov et al., 2011; Klopfenstein and Erickson, 2002; Todd et al., 2011, 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005)

2. (Aarnink et al., 1995; Arogo et al., 2003; Heber et al., 2000; Hoff et al., 2006; Jacobson et al., 2005)

3. (Fabbri et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2005; Nahm, 2003; Nicholson et al., 2004)

4. (Casey et al., 2003; Coufal et al., 2006; Gates et al., 2008; Lacey et al., 2003)

5. (Harper and Sharpe, 1998; Lim et al., 2003; Osada et al., 2000; Portejoie et al., 2003; Visscher et al., 2002; Zahn et al., 2000)

6. (James, 2008; McGinn and Sommer, 2007)

- 7. (Chantigny et al., 2007; Sharpe and Harper, 1997; Westerman et al., 1995)
- 8. (Pelletier, 2008; Redwine et al., 2002)
- 9. (Sommer and Hutchings, 2001)
- 10. (Hatch et al., 1990)

Submodel	Animal Type	Description	Parameter Values
		Beef Feedlot	H,=0.1 (s•m ⁻¹ •°C ⁻¹), H ₂ =-0.01 (s ² m ⁻²)
	Beef cattle,	Swine—shallow pit	H,=0.08(s•m ⁻¹⁾ , H ₂ =-0.004(s•m ⁻¹ •°C ⁻¹)
Housing	Swine,	Swine—deep pit	H,=0.1(s•m ⁻¹), H ₂ =-0.008(s•m ⁻¹ •°C ⁻¹)
Housing	Poultry-Layer,	Layer—Manure belt	H,=0.3(\$•m ⁻¹), H ₂ =-0.015(\$•m ⁻¹ •°C ⁻¹)
	Poultry-Broiler	Layer—High Rise	H,=0.22(s•m ⁻¹), H ₂ =-0.02(s•m ⁻¹ •°C ⁻¹)
		Broiler	H,=0.15(S•m⁻¹), H₂=-0.035(S•m⁻¹• °C⁻¹)
Storago	Swino	Swine lagoon	$S_1=0.20(s \cdot m^{-1}), S_2=4.00(s \cdot m^{-1} \cdot C^{-1})$
Siorage	Swille	Swine basin	$S_1=0.11(s \cdot m^{-1}), S_2=2.24(s \cdot m^{-1} \cdot C^{-1})$
	Beef cattle,	Beef-broadcast	$A_{1}=0.0004, (s \cdot m^{-1})A_{2}=0.88, A_{3}=-1.4$
Application	Swine,	Swine—irrigation	A,=0.001(s•m ⁻¹), A ₂ =-10, A ₃ =20
		Swine—injection	A,=0.01(s •m ⁻¹), A ₂ =-15, A ₃ =40
Grazing	Beef Cattle	Beef Pasture	$G_{,=} 0.12(s \cdot m^{-1}), G_{2}=5.4$

Table 2.4. Practice-specific	parameter v	alues for beef	. swine.	and po	ultrv

The model's tuned parameters are set for each practice, and these tuned parameters have been constrained by the emissions factors that have been reported in the literature for those specific housing, storage, and application practices (across a variety of seasons and locations). The FEM could then be run using these tuned parameters for different meteorological conditions in order to produce estimates for a farm in a different location. Previous work on dairy cows by Pinder (2004) used 2 studies to tune the housing submodel, 3 for storage, 4 for the application submodel, and 3 for grazing, or 12 studies total to tune the dairy submodels. We used 6 studies to tune the beef feedlot submodel, 4 studies to tune the swine housing submodel and 6 for swine storage and 2 studies were used for broiler and layer housing each, details in Table 2.5 below.

Animal	Submodel	Data sources for tuning	Data sources for evaluation
Boof	Housing (feedlot)	1	1, 2
Deel	Application	11	11
	Housing	3	3, 4
Swine	Storage	9	9, 10
	Application	12	12
Proilora	Housing	5	5, 6
DIOIIEIS	Application	13	13
Lovero	Housing	7	7, 8
Layers	Application	14	14

Table 2.5. Data sources used in model tuning/evaluation for beef, swine, and poultry

- 1. (Cole and Defoor, 2006; Hristov et al., 2011; Todd et al., 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005)
- 2. (Klopfenstein and Erickson, 2002; Todd et al., 2011)

3. (Aarnink et al., 1995; Heber et al., 2000; Hoff et al., 2006; Jacobson and Hetchler, 2005)

- 4. (Arogo et al., 2003)
- 5. (Burns et al., 2007; Lacey et al., 2003)
- 6. (Casey et al., 2003; Coufal and Chavez, 2006)
- 7. (Fabbri et al., 2007; Nicholson et al., 2004)
- 8. (Liang et al., 2005; Nahm, 2003)

9. (Harper and Sharpe, 1998; Lim et al., 2003; Osada et al., 2000; Portejoie et al., 2003; Visscher et al., 2002; Zahn et al., 2000)

- 10. (Arogo et al., 2003)
- 11. (James, 2008; McGinn and Sommer, 2007)
- 12. (Chantigny et al., 2007; Sharpe and Harper, 1997; Westerman et al., 1995)
- 13. (Pelletier, 2008; Redwine et al., 2002)
- 14. (Sommer and Hutchings, 2001)

2.4 Results

Ammonia emissions depend strongly on temperature and nitrogen intake and less on

wind speed and precipitation. This is reflected in our emission estimates from the

FEMs. However, literature-reported emission factors often fail to report key contextual

information that could be used to better constrain the farm emission model input

parameters. Additionally, emissions from some practices have been left underreported

or unreported.

The predictions of FEMs for beef cattle, swine, and broiler and layer chickens are presented and evaluated here. Ammonia emissions are generally predicted to have a strong seasonal cycle. There are regional trends in emissions—driven by the temperature dependence of ammonia volatilization and the management practices used. Single variables aren't able to capture fully the variability that has been observed in literature EFs, so our model uses a number of readily available inputs for simulation. Data from the literature are provided at various timescales, from a few days, to weeks or

seasonal average emissions. For consistency, we have reported our model evaluation in terms of *g NH₃/animal/day* or *g NH₃/animal unit/day*.

2.4.1 Model Evaluation

Results from the submodels of the FEMs are described in this section. The *R* value (Figure 2.2a) for beef feedlots is 0.45. Figure 2.2b shows the evaluation for beef feedlots where information about feed/excreta nitrogen content is known, which has an *R* value of 0.62. Figure 2.2c shows the swine housing evaluation with an *R* value of 0.67 (0.81 for shallow-pit only); Figure 2.2d shows the swine storage results with an Rvalue of 0.69; lower observed EFs often come from flux chamber measurements while higher emissions are observed from inverse dispersion measurements in which downwind concentrations are measured and the emissions are calculated through the use of a dispersion model. Poultry EFs are presented as grams of ammonia volatilized per animal unit (AU) per day, where 1 AU is 500 kg, which separates the effects of animal growth from other variability. Broilers show an R value of 0.53 and layer housing had an R value of 0.87 (with a clear separation between the two major housing types used). Emission factors recommendations from earlier EPA guidelines fall within the range of emissions factors produced by the FEM (Faulkner and Shaw, 2008; USEPA, 2004).

Ammonia is difficult to measure resulting in significant uncertainty in the literature. Our modeled EFs also have substantial uncertainties because we used a simple model for emissions, using a few readily available parameters, rather than using first-principles-based model with more detailed inputs. Specifically, passive sampling devices are

operated with a goal of less than 30% uncertainty (range of uncertainty is 15-80%) (Kirchner et al., 1999) while emissions estimates from the use of backwards Lagrangian stochastic models is estimated to be 15-20% or greater for unstable conditions (Flesch et al., 2004). A summary of the correlations, mean fractional error (MFE), normalized mean error (NME), and mean fractional bias (MFB) is in Table 2.6.

Animal Type	Model vs. Measured <i>R</i>	Mean Fractional Error	Normalized Mean Error	Mean Fractional Bias
Beef Feedlots	0.45	44%	38%	+4.4%
Beef Feedlots (Adjusted)	0.62	31%	29%	+1.7%
Swine Housing	0.72 (all)	37%	28%	-8.7%
Swine Lagoon	0.69	90%	61%	+11.9
Broiler Housing	0.53	69%	55%	+1.7%
Layer Housing	0.87 (all) 0.39 (man. belt) 0.67 (hi-rise)	22%	24%	-2.5%

Table 2.6. Model evaluation statistics for beef, swine, and poultry FEMs



Figure 2.2. Model evaluation for: a) beef feedlots evaluated against all EFs; b) beef feedlots where nutritional inputs and/or nitrogen excretion is known; c) swine housing; d) swine storage lagoons; e) broiler housing; f) layer housing emission factors evaluated against literature data for high-rise (HR) and manure-belt (MB) barns.

Measuring open sources like feedlots often relies on a two-step monitoring technique that includes measurement and modeling components; thus there is greater uncertainty in these measurements and greater scatter in their emission factors. Comparing the NME for each of the submodels shown in Figure 2.2, the values for beef feedlots, swine, and layer houses of 25%-60% are comparable in magnitude to the uncertainties in the measurement techniques used by the studies in literature. Though our model may omit or simplify important processes contributing to emissions variability, we conclude that a significant fraction of the model-measurement discrepancy may reflect limitations of the measurements. Given that we tune our models to the literature, normalized mean bias in our model predictions is small.

2.4.2 Trends in Modelled Ammonia Emissions

Literature-based ammonia emissions factors are highly variable, particularly for open sources. These measurements are difficult to conduct with great enough time resolution to capture brief spikes and dips in emissions. Additionally, beef feedlots, swine houses and swine lagoons ammonia emissions exhibit a strong seasonal pattern.

For beef feedlots, the value of better contextual information, specifically feed and manure nitrogen content, in producing accurate estimates of ammonia emission factors is highlighted in Figures 2.2a and 2.2b. The model performs better with location-specific information for inputs, with *R* value improving from 0.45 to 0.62 and reducing NME from 38% to 29%. Many EF measurements fail to report contextual information, particularly manure nitrogen content, pH, and meteorological conditions, which would enable better interpretation and comparison of measurements, understanding of variability, and better emission models and inventories. Future emissions measurements should document better these conditions.

Feedlot emissions are much higher than pasture ammonia emissions. In this work, the grazing model was adapted from previous work (Pinder et al., 2004a), tuned with dairy and beef cattle data because of limited data. Since cattle on pasture comprise more than 80% of the total population in the United States at any given time (USDA-NASS, 2015), though their emission factors are 5-8 times lower than those on feedlots, we expect they contribute significantly to national emissions, and so measurements of pasture emissions should be a priority.

Figure 2.3 presents emissions at typical farms in Central Iowa and Eastern North Carolina, which were selected because of their importance in hog production (NPPC, 2012). By comparing practices and locations, we are able to identify the effects of location and practices on ammonia emissions. We see that having lower emissions in one stage of production means that there may be more nitrogen available for volatilization later on, altering when emissions happen, but not necessarily the amount. Comparing Figure 2.3b to 2.3d, we see the effects that different meteorological conditions have on ammonia emissions, with North Carolina, having nearly 1.5 times the emissions predicted in the cooler state of Iowa.



Figure 2.3. Sample swine farms in Iowa (IA) and North Carolina (NC): a) IA farm with deep-pit housing, basin storage, irrigation application; b) IA farm with slatted-floor, lagoon, irrigation application; c) NC farm with deep-pit housing, basin storage, irrigation application; d) NC farm with slatted-floor housing, lagoon storage, irrigation application.

Broiler chickens and layer chickens have different lifecycles. For broilers, temperature is not a driver of ammonia emissions because of the varying animal feed nitrogen contents during the production cycle, the animal growth rate and the animal nitrogen use efficiency. As a result, the FEM performs with only an R value of 0.53, suggesting that factors not used in our model (not typically available from measurement campaigns) contribute significantly to variability. Additionally, there is significant variability within measurements taken under similar temperatures and bird ages in the literature, shown in the range of literature emission factors from 30 g/AU/d to more than 400 g AU⁻¹d⁻¹, while the FEM ranges from 20-300 g AU⁻¹d⁻¹ (Figure 22.e).

Layer chickens are primarily housed in two kinds of barns: manure-belt and high-rise systems—with different sets of housing parameters in the FEM accounting for major differences in practices. Manure-belt systems are characterized by daily to weekly waste removal while high-rise houses remove manure less frequently. The time the manure spends in housing helps explain the differences in ammonia EFs between housing types for similar nitrogen inputs and animal characteristics (Figure 2f). The observation of higher emissions from high-rise barns is well-captured by the FEM, consistent with literature measurement campaigns. Temporal variability in ammonia emission factors is better captured for layers than broilers because animals maintain the same size, diet and environmental requirements during their time in the barn, reflected in the greater R value (0.87) for layers than broilers. The ability of the layer FEM to distinguish between housing types is important as both are used in production

where 70% of layer facilities are high-rise configurations while 30% of facilities use manure-belt houses (Xin et al., 2011).

There is a lack of data in the literature regarding the long-term storage and endpoint of manure for poultry, whether it is recycled or land-applied or used in feed production. Due to limited data, we are unable to well-characterize the spatiotemporal variability in ammonia EFs for these parts of manure management. However, we expect housing is the most significant source of ammonia emissions for poultry, so this does not appear to be a serious limitation.

2.5 Conclusions

Ammonia emissions from livestock operations are highly variable and depend on manure management practices and meteorological conditions. Representing this variability in emissions inventories is challenging but essential, and process-based modeling offers one promising approach. In this work, farm emissions models (FEMs) were developed for the most common livestock production practices for beef cattle, swine, and broiler and layer chickens. Building on previous work (Pinder et al., 2004a; Hutchings et al., 1996) for dairy cows, the FEMs are based on mass balances of the nitrogen and water flowing through the farm using model inputs from literature and tuned model parameters for livestock in the United States. Key inputs to our FEMs include manure nitrogen contents, manure volumes per animal, and manure pH throughout production. This method of using literature-based inputs and a constant set of tuned parameters (for each set of practices) means our model is semi-empirical, but captures much of the variability lacking from earlier emissions inventories. Moreover,

these FEMs are relatively simple and computationally efficient to run, meaning they can be used to build national emissions inventories given meteorological inputs, animal populations, and management practices.

Model performance was evaluated in terms of the *R* value between literature and modeled EFs, mean fractional error, and mean fractional bias (based on the difference from observed emissions factor) (Table 2.6). The *R* values show that the FEMs capture 20%-70% of the variability that is seen in literature emissions factors. For swine, the housing *R* value was 0.72 and 0.69 for lagoon storage; *R* was 0.53 for broilers and 0.87 for layers; for beef feedlots R values were 0.45 for all feedlots and 0.62 for feedlots with farm-specific nitrogen information. FEM performance was better for enclosed emission sources than open sources. Open-air production strategies produce greater ranges in measured emission factors and cause greater uncertainty in our model-predicted values due to the measurement techniques which require concentration measurement and dispersion modeling to produce an estimate of ammonia emissions (Flesch et al., 2007).

We found that model performance could be improved with better input data about feed and manure nitrogen contents, which are not always reported in the literature. Our FEM was more successful in predicting reported emissions factors for cases where feed and/or nitrogen contents were reported (R value of 0.36) versus cases where they were not reported (R value of 0.21). Mean fractional error was also reduced (from 44% to 31%). This underlines the importance of reporting the conditions under which emissions are measured, including weather conditions, details of management practices, feed and manure nitrogen contents, and manure pH. Having this information accompany

emissions factor measurements greatly increases the value of the emissions measurements especially for emissions model development. If more farms provided more details about manure nitrogen content, model performance could be improved substantially.

Model performance was limited by the lack of data in the literature for some common management practices for livestock production. This results from a tendency to focus on concentrated, intensive operations (important for nuisance and odor issues) to the exclusion of widespread sources that may be significant for national inventories, evidenced by a lack of literature data for pasture-raised beef though they likely contribute significantly to the overall national emissions. Additionally, there was a lack of data for the storage and application of poultry manure in the literature.

The next chapter evaluates the the dairy, swine and poultry FEMs with data from the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS), a more than two-year measurement campaign completed at a number of farms in several US states. This allows us to improve the process-based farm models developed by providing more highly-resolved and complete input information. It also highlights some of the regional differences in production methods that are important in understanding emissions during the production process.

2.6 Disclaimer

We have developed a farm-level model to better capture the major drivers of seasonal and regional variability in ammonia emissions from livestock production, but individual

farms may differ significantly from these predicted due to farm-specific practices not represented here.

CHAPTER 3: EVALUATING A PROCESS-BASED MODEL FOR LIVESTOCK AMMONIA EMISSIONS USING LONG-TERM MEASUREMENTS

3.1 Abstract

Ammonia emissions from agriculture, especially livestock, are difficult to characterize due to the many sources of emissions variability (meteorology, management practices, and nutritional inputs) as well as difficulties in measuring emissions, especially from outdoor sources. Previous evaluation and tuning of our process-based farm emission model (FEM) was based on short-term measurements from the literature; given longterm emissions measurements provided by the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study, here we present additional evaluation and improvement of this model. The National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS) is a recent measurement campaign encompassing a number of large-scale farms with dairy cows, swine, broilers and layers. These farms are located in a variety of states, demonstrating regional trends in production practices and allowing us to understand more about not only differences driven by meteorology but also by other sources of farm-to-farm variability. Emissions were measured at most farm across all seasons (for lagoons) and consistently for at least a year for animal houses, providing unprecedented information about the seasonal cycle of emissions as well as emissions under colder temperatures. We investigated the model's performance in predicting seasonal and daily variability in ammonia emissions from the NAEMS farms for dairy, swine, layers and broilers. Average seasonal R values were 0.69 for dairy housing and 0.8 for dairy storage, 0.49 for swine housing and 0.81 for swine storage, 0.87 (excluding farm NC2B) and 0.54 for all farms for layer

housing and 0.56 for broiler housing. Except for one dairy farm in California, mean fractional errors in housing were less than 61% with a median value of 22%. Storage emissions showed a greater range in error and biases (22 to 91% and -90 to 94%, respectively) due to the limited nature of our model and difficulties associated with measure open-source ammonia emissions. Daily evaluation of the FEM produced more mixed results with 9 farms having an R-value greater than 0.25, 5 farms with little to no correlation (R= -0.04 to 0.23), and 1 farm with an R-value of -0.76. Additionally, the NAEMS observations for layer chicken barns show a positive correlation between emissions and temperature on a daily time scale but a negative correlation on a seasonal time scale, possibly explained by the rate at which manure dries. Overall, this analysis demonstrates that the process-based FEMs perform reasonably well in predicting the magnitude of ammonia emissions, their seasonal cycle, and farm-to-farm variability and have some skill in predicting daily variation in emissions.

3.2 Introduction

Ammonia is an air pollutant of significant concern because it can enhance the formation of fine particulate matter (PM) as well as cause damage via deposition to land and water. Fine PM or PM_{2.5} (the mass concentration of particles with aerodynamic diameters of 2.5 μm or less) has been shown to cause respiratory ailments, cardiac events, and premature death (American Lung Association, 2006; Krewski et al., 2003; Pope and Dockery, 2006). As a result, the control of PM has been shown to offer significant social benefits and has therefore been pursued aggressively (American Chemical Society, 2011; Fann et al., 2009). Beyond its health impacts (as a major component of particulate matter), excess ammonia deposition can lead to the eutrophication of pristine terrestrial ecosystems and many waterways (Erisman et al., 1998; Jenkinson, 2001). Ammonia emissions have been increasing, and are expected to continue to increase, as demand for animal products has grown and the livestock industry has been intensified. Some sources estimate an increase of ammonia emissions of 15% by 2030, whereas emissions of sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxides, the other major precursors to inorganic fine PM, have decreased by 80% and 60% respectively in the past 30 years (Driscoll et al., 2003; Fenn et al., 2003; USEPA, 2004).

The major source of ammonia emissions in the United States is livestock, with the vast majority of livestock emissions resulting from beef, dairy, swine and poultry production (Battye et al., 1994, 2003; Bouwman et al., 1997; Goebes et al., 2003; USEPA, 2004; Webb and Misselbrook, 2004). Because both manure management practices and environmental conditions cause variability in ammonia emissions, not all management practices and meteorological conditions can be measured. Many times, measurement campaigns sample emissions only for a brief period or for a particular part of the production process. Each stage of the production process has associated emissions and though it is vital to know what is happening at each stage of manure management, often, we do not have information about the emissions process from the start to end of production which makes it difficult to complete a mass balance on the nitrogen in system. The lack of whole-farm measurements is one gap in much of the literature available and one aspect of ammonia emissions our development of a farm emission model attempts to remedy.

Previously, we developed a farm emissions model (FEM) some of whose parameters were tuned to match measurements reported in the literature for beef, swine and poultry production (McQuilling and Adams, 2015). Additionally, we have used the FEM developed previously by Pinder et al. for dairy production in the United States (Pinder et al., 2004a, 2004b). The farm emission model (FEM) developed is a process-based model that tracks the flow of total ammoniacal nitrogen and manure volume through the farm system by conducting a mass or volume balance through the whole system, ensuring mass is conserved. Although these process-based FEMs have been useful, significant limitations have remained, stemming from the lack of long-term, detailed observations with which to evaluate the model's performance in capturing seasonal variability. Understanding seasonal variability in emissions is vital because the role that ammonia plays (in terms of PM_{2.5} mass) is typically much greater in the winter than summer (Ansari and Pandis, 1998; Stanier et al., 2012).

The National Air Emissions Monitoring Study came about as the result of the Animal Feeding Operations Consent Agreement and Final Order (AFO-CAFO) to better understand the effects of intensive animal production on the environment, and in particular, the quantity of atmospheric emissions of ammonia, hydrogen sulfide, non-methane VOCs, and particulate matter (Key et al., 2011; Mittal, 2009; Thompson, 2011). In this work, we use data from the NAEMS to fill in the gaps from more traditional measurement campaigns. The farm-specific feed and waste composition data, daily meteorological observations, and the length of observation (multiple years) were especially beneficial in this regard. In particular, the multi-year observations allowed us to better characterize seasonal variability in emissions while the data about

manure characteristics allowed us to use more farm-specific data as model inputs. The daily wintertime observations were of special interest because a wintertime spike in ammonia emissions could cause high levels of PM formation, as observed especially in the Midwestern US, and so a single day could cause a particular location to be out of attainment for the particulate matter National Ambient Air Quality Standard (Stanier et al., 2012).

In this chapter, we describe the evaluation of our FEM against the data collected during NAEMS for housing emissions of ammonia from dairy cattle (using the tuned FEM from Pinder and Pekney, 2004), swine, broiler chickens, and layer chickens as well as for storage emissions from swine and dairy production at a variety of farm locations and practices described in more detail in the following sections. The model performance for the NAEMS data was reviewed in three ways. First, emissions factors from the prior literature were compared to the observations made during NAEMS. Because there were substantial differences in both the emissions factors as well as the conditions under which the observations were made, the FEM tuned mass transfer resistance parameters were re-tuned to account for both prior literature and newer NAEMS measurements. Then, the model was evaluated for its ability to reproduce the seasonal emissions patterns observed on the NAEMS farms; mean fractional error and mean fraction bias are reported as well as the correlation between model and observations. Additionally, the daily predicted emission factors were compared to the daily emission factors reported by NAEMS. Finally, we characterize the annual average performance of the model, separated by both animal type and specific farm practice and management stage.

3.3 Method Overview

3.3.1 Description of Farm Emission Model (FEM)

As previously described (Hutchings et al., 1996; McQuilling and Adams, 2015; Pinder et al., 2004a), ammonia emissions from livestock are driven by three major factors: meteorological conditions (e.g. temperature, wind speed and precipitation), manure management practices (housing type, storage type, fed nitrogen), and manure characteristics (volume, waste nitrogen content, etc.). The FEMs evaluated here were developed for the purpose of building national emissions inventories, which requires capturing the seasonal variability in ammonia emissions (driven in many cases by seasonal differences in temperature) as well as regional differences in emission patterns resulting from regional differences in farming practices. The submodels in the FEMs for dairy cattle, swine and poultry rely on three mass balance equations to characterize the changes over time in manure volume, urea concentration and total ammoniacal nitrogen concentration. More specifically, the FEM is a semi-empirical process-based model that uses a mass balance on nitrogen through the system to characterize the emissions process through the entire farm system (from housing to storage to manure application); it is semi-empirical because mass transfer model parameters are tuned to ensure output agrees with measured emission factors. For each livestock type, the farm emission model (FEM) is composed of a series of submodels, each of which treats a different stage of manure management: housing (or grazing), storage, and application. Configuration of the sub-models differs for each of the livestock types and management practices used. A schematic of the farm emission model is shown in Figure 3.1. In general, total ammoniacal nitrogen (TAN) and liquid

volume are tracked as manure move from housing to storage to application. Where appropriate, e.g. dairy and beef cattle, a grazing sub-model is included as well. Storage of poultry manure and manure application was not included in this evaluation because those processes were not observed in NAEMS.



Figure 3.1: Schematic of farm emission model (FEM) previously described (McQuilling and Adams, 2015; Pinder et al., 2004a, 2004b).

Within the FEMs, we use inputs for management practices, manure nitrogen, and meteorological conditions to predict ammonia emissions from a particular farm type in a particular location, based on the data reported for that farm. A description of model inputs and parameters and their sources is shown in Table 3.1. Meteorological data were collected simultaneously with emissions measurements during NAEMS, and so we have detailed information about temperature, wind speed, and wind direction for each of the farms throughout the study. Additionally, manure and feed characteristics were also observed at various points during the study at the NAEMS farms (every 3-6 months), and data including the nitrogen content of manure, the manure pH, as well as feed nitrogen content were reported throughout the measurement campaign at a similar

frequency and is used as input to our FEMs. As previously discussed, the level of detail in the meteorological observations and manure conditions helped to constrain the results of the FEM, as these data were often unreported in previous work.

Data Type	Description	Source of input or parameter	Input or Tuned Parameter?
Meteorology	Temperature (°C) Wind speed (m/s) Precipitation	NAEMS; unique for each farm NAEMS; unique for each farm From National Climate Data Center, based on farm location	Input value (monthly average for seasonal evaluation, daily for daily evaluation)
Manure Management Practice	Type of housing or storage	NAEMS; unique for each farm	Input value
Resistance Parameters	Surface mass transfer resistance from manure to atmosphere	Tuned based on literature and NAEMS observations to agree with previous work; constant for a particular management practice	Tuned Parameters

Table 3.1: Descriptior	and sources	of model inpu	ts and parameters
------------------------	-------------	---------------	-------------------

In general, the year-round NAEMS study provides many more measurements at colder temperatures for most animals and practices and a number of high emissions measurements for broiler housing and swine storage. Given these qualitative differences between the NAEMS data and prior literature, we decided to re-tune the FEM data against a combination of NAEMS and prior literature measurements. Therefore, the results here evaluate the ability of the FEMs to capture variability in ammonia emissions rather than a fully independent prediction of emissions.

In the FEM, as described previously (Hutchings et al., 1996; McQuilling and Adams,

2015; Pinder et al., 2004a), ammonia emissions are estimated as a function of the

nitrogen present in the waste and the mass transfer resistance. This resistance is the made up of the following three parts: the aerodynamic (r_a), quasi-laminar (r_b), and surface resistances (r_s) (Wesely and Hicks, 1977). Aerodynamic and quasi-laminar resistances are used to describe the resistance to transport in the gaseous layer above the animal wastes (Hutchings et al., 1996; Olesen and Sommer, 1993; Sommer and Hutchings, 2001). These parameters are based on widely used theoretical formulas and are not tuned. The third part of the resistance is the surface resistance from diffusion closest to the gas-liquid (manure) interface. Here, the surface resistance is a function of tuned parameters as well as temperature which ensures the modeled ammonia emission factors are consistent with observations.

3.3.2 Description of National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS) Data

The National Air Emissions Monitoring Study was a measurement campaign aimed at better exploring the seasonal and regional differences in emissions from livestock production in the United States. Farms were selected to span a range in practices as well as locations. The study was conducted from 2007-2010 and data was released to the public in 2011. Descriptions of the farm locations, animal types, manure management practices, and length of study are listed in Table 3.2 (USEPA-OAQPS, 2015b).

Farm Name	Animal Type	Management Stage	Practice Used Dates of Study	
CA1B	Droilor	Housing	Litter-based	December 2007 – October 2009
KY1B	Droller	Housing	Litter-based	February 2006 – March 2007
CA2B			High-rise	October 2007 – October 2009
IN2H			High-rise	June 2007 – May 2009
NC2B	Layer	Housing	High-rise	January 2008 – December 2009
IN2B			Manure-belt	January 2008 – December 2009
IA4B			Shallow pit/Flush (<24 d)	July 2007 – September 2009
IN3B			Deep pit (180 d)	July 2007 – July 2009
NC3B		Housing	Shallow pit/Flush (7 d)	December 2007 – December 2009
NC4B			Shallow pit/Flush (7 d)	December 2007 – December 2009
OK4B			Shallow pit/Flush (7 d)	July 2007 – July 2009
IA3A	Swine		Manure basin	September 2007 – August 2009
IN4A			Lagoon	September 2007 – August 2008
NC3A		Store go1	Lagoon	November 2007 – November 2009
NC4A		Slorage	Lagoon	October 2007 – July 2009
OK3A			Lagoon	September 2007 – July 2009
OK4A			Lagoon	July 2007 – June 2009
CA5B			Free-stall barn	September 2007 – February 2010
IN5B			Free-stall barn	September 2007 – August 2009
NY5B		Housing	Free-stall barn	October 2007 – November 2009
WA5B			Free-stall barn	September 2007 – October 2009
WI5B	Dairy		Free-stall barn	September 2007 – August 2009
IN5A			Lagoon	December 2007 – September 2009
TX5A ²		Storago ¹	Feedlot (housing)	December 2007 – September 2009
WA5A		Slorage	Lagoon	February 2008 – June 2009
WI5A			Lagoon	July 2007 – March 2009

Table 3.2: Description of farms in the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS) including practices used, animal type and observation dates.

¹ Lagoons and manure storage basin were monitored each season for approximately 2 weeks at a time; measurement equipment was then rotated to other monitoring locations

² This site was a feedlot-style dairy facility where cows were housed, but since it was an open-source (like a lagoon) it fell under the storage category of the measurement campaign

Emissions measurements were taken at a total of 15 livestock barns (5 swine, 4 dairy

cattle, 4 layer and 2 broiler barns and 10 manure storage facilities (5 swine lagoons, 1

swine basin, 3 dairy cow manure lagoons, 1 dairy drylot) for anywhere from 1.5 to 2.5

years, beginning in late 2007 and continuing through early 2010. Swine farm data was collected in Iowa, Indiana, North Carolina and Oklahoma for flush-type and deep-pit barns. Dairy barn data was collected in California, Indiana, New York, Washington and Wisconsin; all were free-stall dairies. For the layer chickens, measurements were taken at farms in California, Indiana, and North Carolina; all but one farm (in Indiana) used a high-rise manure management system. The remaining farm used a manure belt to remove waste from the barns. Broiler measurements were conducted by NAEMS researchers in California and by Tyson Foods in Kentucky; both farms used a litter-based barn for production.

The study measurements were coordinated by Dr. Albert Heber of Purdue University to ensure all measurements met the same quality assurance metrics and used the same measurement techniques. The time resolution of online data for NAEMS varies; for animal barns, only daily average emission factors were released whereas for manure lagoons data was released at a time resolution of 30 minutes. Additionally, the detailed co-located meteorological observations and reporting of manure characteristics was exceedingly helpful as it allowed us to better constrain the FEM, and we found that this information was not often reported in prior ammonia emissions measurements as reported in the literature, or that previous studies were not conducted over the same length of time, and so full characterization of seasonal trends in ammonia emissions was limited.

In addition to ammonia emissions, the emissions of particulate matter, hydrogen sulfide, and non-methane volatile organic compounds were monitored. Meteorological data

including temperature, wind speed and direction, and pressure were also reported daily. For the lagoon storage included in the study, files with emissions observations at a time resolution of 30 minutes were released; however, in many cases, there was limited time coverage. Depending on the farm, "daily" lagoon emissions could be characterized based on data collected over the course of several hours or as little as two 30-minute periods over the course of the day. As we will discuss in the results, the limitations of data collection, particularly for lagoon storage could be problematic since overnight emissions might be very different than those observed during the warmer late afternoon.

At various points during the study, samples of feed and samples of manure from both the housing and lagoon facilities (dairy, swine, layer and broiler) under observation were collected and tested for pH (manure) and nitrogen content (feed and manure). This data was collected a few times each year. These results showed that, in general, feed nitrogen remained relatively constant throughout the year.

3.3.3 Description of Model Evaluation Process

In this work, we began by using the previously tuned values for model parameters related to mass transfer resistance (McQuilling and Adams, 2015; Pinder et al., 2004a). After comparing emission factors from the existing literature and NAEMS, it was apparent that the data from NAEMS was collected under a wider variety of conditions and showed a greater spread in ammonia emissions factors, as is shown in Figure 3.2; after observing these differences, the mass transfer resistance parameters were retuned, as described in Section 3.4.1.



Figure 3.2: Emission factors as a function of temperature reported in the prior literature and from the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS). Results are displayed by animal type and management stage as follows: a) free-stall dairy housing emissions, b) dairy lagoon storage emissions, c) deep-pit and flush-type swine housing emissions, d) swine lagoon and basin storage emissions, e) litter-based broiler housing emissions, and f) manure-belt (MB) and high-rise (HR) layer housing emissions. (1 AU = animal unit = 500 kg live animal weight)

We used a variety of metrics to evaluate the performance of the model in its ability to

estimate ammonia emissions. Model performance was evaluated in its correlation

between model and measurement, mean fractional error, and mean fractional bias. The

equations used to calculate these metrics are shown below in equations 3.1-3.3.

$$Correlation = r = \frac{n \sum EF_{meas} * EF_{mod} - (\sum EF_{meas})(\sum EF_{mod})}{\sqrt{n(EF_{meas})^2 - (EF_{meas})^2} * \sqrt{\sqrt{n(EF_{mod})^2 - (EF_{mod})^2}}}$$
(3.1)

$$Mean \ Fractional \ Error = MFE = \frac{1}{N} * \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{|EF_{mod} - EF_{meas}|}{\frac{1}{2} * (EF_{meas} + EF_{model})} * 100$$
(3.2)

Mean Fractional Bias = MFB =
$$\frac{1}{N} * \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{EF_{mod} - EF_{meas}}{\frac{1}{2} * (EF_{meas} + EF_{model})} * 100$$
 (3.3)

The results of the model evaluation in terms of model-measurement correlation, mean fractional error, and mean fractional bias are presented in Tables 3.3. For both swine and dairy model performance evaluations, correlations were calculated and presented for daily and seasonal model performance.

3.4 Results

Previously published literature studies suggest that there is a strong relationship between ammonia emissions and the meteorological conditions, management practices, and feed nitrogen content under which those emissions occurred. Here, we have further investigated these relationships using the newly available data from the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS). The farm emission model that was developed based on literature (described and evaluated previously (McQuilling and Adams, 2015; Pinder et al., 2004a)) is further tested against this data. There are three major components to the NAEMS analysis in this chapter. First, we re-tune the model to better fit the data collected during the NAEMS campaign to fit the full range of conditions for which emission factors were reported by NAEMS. Secondly, the model performance is

evaluated in its ability to reproduce seasonal ammonia emissions variability for dairy housing and lagoons, swine housing and lagoons, and layer and broiler housing. Since NAEMS monitored farms for multiple years and provided daily measured emission factors for the farms, we have also investigated our model's skill in reproducing day-to-day variability in ammonia emissions. This was a stringent test of the model's skill since it was originally developed to capture seasonal differences in emissions, not necessarily day-to-day variability.

3.4.1 Synthesis of existing literature and NAEMS data

The FEM was originally tuned solely to data gathered from literature predating the NAEMS study (McQuilling and Adams, 2015). With the advent of the NAEMS data, one approach would be to test the previously tuned model against the novel and wholly independent NAEMS data. However, as will become clear below, the NAEMS data goes substantially above and beyond what was previously available for model tuning, exploring emissions under conditions that were not sampled previously, and in some cases, looking qualitatively different. It was apparent that predicting NAEMS measurements under conditions that were not sampled previously is essentially an extrapolation of the model and unlikely to be informative or successful. Therefore, it was decided to re-tune the FEMs to the full suite of available data, including both NAEMS and the earlier literature measurements. The model evaluation that follows, therefore, does not reflect the ability of the FEMs to predict completely independent measurements but the ability of a relatively simple process-based model, with a single

set of mass transfer parameters for each manure management practice, to describe the full range of observed variability.

The NAEMS data and literature data are displayed previously in Figure 3.2. The range of temperatures studied is most extended for layer hens. With the additional NAEMS data, an apparent inverse relationship between temperature and ammonia emissions is observed, something that was not clear in the prior literature. It has been suggested that this inverse relationship (higher emissions factors for lower temperatures) is related to the drying out of manure in hot barns with high ventilation rates (Morgan et al., 2014). At lower temperatures, barn ventilation is reduced (to conserve heat) and manure dries slowly, and, therefore more manure urea can be broken down into ammonia, which is then available for volatilization. Additionally, we saw that for some practices, particularly for swine storage, emissions factors from NAEMS were uniformly higher than those previously reported in the literature, for both high and low temperatures. As a result of these differences, the FEM's tuned parameters were adjusted so that model emission factors fell between NAEMS and literature data, weighting the literature studies equally with the NAEMS observations so as not to over-tune to only the literature or NAEMS data. There is significant value in both previously published studies as well as in the values reported by NAEMS, so the model recalibration done is to ensure that this work takes advantage of all available data. As we were trying to capture the emission factor variability observed both in the literature and in the NAEMS observations, the process of recalibration was less formal (than the original tuning of parameters), and the model was adjusted to produce results in between the results from the literature and NAEMS if they were substantially different. When the NAEMS observations and literature did not

differ by a large amount, the changes between pre- and post-recalibration were minimal, while for some farm types (namely swine storage and layer housing) the re-calibration produced results that were markedly different. Figure S3.1 in the supplemental figures shows literature emission factors, NAEMS emission factors, and emission factors from the model run for the NAEMS farms pre- and post- recalibration for the animal types which had the greatest differences between the literature emission factors and NAEMS observations, swine storage and layer housing.

3.4.2 NAEMS and performance in capturing seasonal variability Figure 3.3 presents, for six NAEMS farms, the measured seasonal cycle of emissions compared to that predicted by the corresponding FEM. The results in Figure 3.3 are typical (the farm that is, on average, closest to average mean fractional error of the farms in the study) of each animal type and manure management stage included in NAEMS: dairy housing, dairy (lagoon) storage, swine housing, swine (lagoon and basin) storage, broiler housing and (high-rise and manure-belt) layer housing.



Figure 3.3: Comparing seasonal model performance for each animal type and management stage. Animal types and stages are as follows: a) free-stall dairy housing in NY (NY5B), b) dairy storage lagoon in IN (IN5A), c) shallow pit swine housing in NC (NC4B), d) swine storage lagoon in OK (OK3A), e) litter-based broiler housing in CA (CA1B), and f) high-rise layer housing in IN (IN2H). Farm evaluations for all sites in the study are included in the Supplemental information in Figures S3.1-S3.6.

Specific details about each of the farms studied are presented in Table 3.2 including when the study occurred. The remaining farms are shown in the supplemental information in Figures S3.2-S3.7.

Animal Type	Farm	Management Stage	Seasonal Correlation	Daily Correlation	Seasonal Mean Fractional	Seasonal Mean Fractional	Daily Mean Fractional
	<u></u>				Error	Bias	Bias
	CA5B	Housing	0.62	N/A	170%	85%	N/A
	IN5B	Housing	0.95	0.59	18%	0%	-35%
	NY5B	Housing	0.87	0.3	19%	2%	1%
Doin	WA5B	Housing	0.03	0.25	47%	-1%	-84%
Daily	WI5B	Housing	0.96	N/A	13%	6%	N/A
	IN5A	Storage	0.94	0.31	59%	29%	12%
	WA5A	Storage	0.59	-0.76	39%	94%	55%
	WI5A	Storage	0.88	-0.04	90%	-90%	-42%
	IA4B	Housing	0.78	-0.01	21%	-13%	-102%
	IN3B	Housing	0.34	0.49	44%	-4%	24%
	NC3B	Housing	0.09	0.01	21%	7%	22%
	NC4B	Housing	0.35	0.42	23%	18%	42%
0	OK4B	Housing	0.91	0.25	17%	-10%	-3%
Swine	IN4A	Storage	0.77	0.04	22%	-14%	8%
	NC3A	Storage	0.83	0.23	15%	-7%	103%
	NC4A	Storage	0.94	0.42	84%	42%	-47%
	OK3A	Storage	0.82	0	91%	-41%	9%
	OK4A	Storage	0.68	0.09	35%	-3%	-89%
	CA2B	Housing	0.87	N/A	27%	-4%	N/A
	IN2B	Housing	0.84	N/A	16%	13%	N/A
Layers	IN2H	Housing	0.89	N/A	16%	-8%	N/A
	NC2B	Housing	-0.43	N/A	28%	25%	N/A
	CA1B	Housing	0.5	N/A	60%	-20%	N/A
Broilers	KY1B	Housing	0.61	N/A	61%	-5%	N/A

Table 3.3: Errors and correlation coefficients for daily and seasonal model performan

Note: Not all months of study were evaluated for each farm for daily model performance; a warm-weather period and cold-weather period was evaluated for each farm. Results may or may not be entirely representative of daily model performance over the longer term.

As shown in Figure 3.3a-3.3d, dairy cattle and swine farms typically have summer

peaks in emission factors, while layers more commonly have winter peaks, as described

in Section 3.4.1 (Morgan et al., 2014). The emissions factors for broiler farms tend to

be driven more by animal size, because of their brief life cycle (only 6-8 weeks on most farms), though there is also a seasonal cycle. In our model, because of the data reported by NAEMS about animal age, we are able to adjust for animal age and weight because older and larger animals are able to more efficiently use the nitrogen they are fed. Here, for purposes of comparing with a specific farm where animal age is known, we included the average age of the animals in each month as an input as a way to adjust for differences in nitrogen use efficiency. We anticipate that, for purposes of building emissions inventories, when one is summing across numerous barns or farms in a county, these farms will have their animals in different stages of the life cycle; therefore, these adjustments will tend to average out in emissions inventories and can be ignored, leaving only a very weak seasonal trend in emissions at the inventory level.

The results of the seasonal model evaluation for dairy housing and storage are shown in Table 3.3. In general, the model performs reasonably well in terms of correlation coefficient for seasonal variability, ranging from 0.62-0.96 (with the exception of the Washington barn where r = 0.03, whose seasonal model performance is shown in Figure S3.2d and whose measured seasonal cycle was atypical for unknown reasons). In terms of mean fractional error and bias (excluding the California barn, which has observed emission factors approximately one-tenth of those seen in other study locations measured under similar conditions), MFE ranged from 18%-47% while MFB was between -1% to 6%. Thus, if we modified the model to better capture the seasonal variability for the farm in Washington, the model would no longer adequately describe the seasonal trends in emissions for the other dairy farms included in NAEMS. This discrepancy highlights the role of farm-to-farm variability in ammonia emissions factors

and the fact that there are other factors contributing to this variability not captured by the FEM described previously (McQuilling and Adams, 2015; Pinder et al., 2004a).

The results of the seasonal model evaluation for swine housing and storage are shown in Table 3.3. In general, the seasonal correlations are better for the lagoons (manure storage) than for barn emissions, indicating that the lagoon emissions are most strongly driven by temperatures and vary most greatly across seasons. The seasonal correlations range from 0.09 to 0.91 for housing and 0.68 to 0.94 for swine manure storage; the lowest correlation is for farm NC3B, which shows lower than expected summertime ammonia emissions; other farms have emissions factors up to an order of magnitude higher for similar meteorological conditions. In contrast, the mean fractional error and biases in the measurements are substantially greater for the open sources measured during NAEMS. This is likely related to the additional measurements, analyses, and assumptions required to infer emissions from outdoor sources compared to indoor housing with well-known ventilation rates. These additional steps include the monitoring of upwind and downwind concentrations, frequent measurement of wind speed in order to calculate emissions trajectories, and the use of a dispersion model to calculate emissions based on these factors. Mean fractional errors for animal housing were modest, ranging from 17%-44%, whereas they could be much higher for outdoor storage: 15%-91%. Similarly, mean fractional biases for swine housing ranged from -13%-18% and storage ranged from -41% to +42%.

Model evaluation for seasonal model performance for poultry is also shown in Table 3.3, including both layer farms (CA2B, IN2B, IN2H, and NC2B) as well as broiler farms (CA1B

and KY1B). For the layers, two types of housing were considered: high-rise (CA2B, IN2H, and NC2B) and manure-belt (IN2B). The main difference in these housing options is the frequency at which the manure is removed: every several months for high-rise houses and multiple times per week for manure-belt houses. For the layers, the model performed reasonably well on a seasonal basis for 3 of the 4 farms. The NC2B farm, a high-rise barn, showed the opposite seasonal trend in emissions when compared to the other three farms. The correlation for the other three layer farms ranged from 0.84-0.89, whereas for NC2B it was -0.43. Across all layer housing, mean fractional errors ranged from 16%-28% and mean fractional biases between -8% to 25%. Only two broiler farms were included in NAEMS. The model evaluation for these two farms is also shown in Table 3, where r ranges from 0.5 to 0.61 and mean fractional error is ~60%. Mean fractional biase was between -5% to -20%, which reflects that many previous studies observed lower ammonia emissions factors than those seen in NAEMS.

3.4.3 Evaluation of daily variability

One of the unique features of the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study was its large set of daily emissions factors for ammonia. Because this data was available, and because of the role of ammonia emissions in episodic formation of particulate ammonium nitrate, especially during the wintertime (Stanier et al., 2012), we wanted to see if our model could capture the daily variability seen in the ammonia emissions observations from NAEMS. Results of this analysis are shown in Figures 3.4-3.5 and Table 3.3 and the supplemental information in Figures S3.8-S3.11.
Overall, the results from the daily evaluation of the dairy and swine FEMs (originally developed to capture the seasonal variability in ammonia emissions) are mixed but encouraging. As seen in Figure 3.4, as well as in Table 3.3, a modest amount of daily variability is captured at some farms but not for others—for 8 of the farms the correlation coefficient is greater than 0.25, for 7 additional farms the correlation coefficient is -0.76.



Figure 3.4: Daily variability in NAEMS data and model predictions for: a) a free-stall dairy house in Indiana during July 2008 (IN5B) and b) a dairy lagoon in Indiana during June 2009 (for both RPM and BLS methods of emission factor estimation) (IN5A). Additional daily evaluations are found in the Supplemental information in Figures S7-S10.

Typically, the daily model-measurement correlation is better for housing, but not always;

in general, the worst housing correlation is better than the worst storage correlation.

Also, as evidenced in Figure 3.4b, the two methods used by NAEMS to infer lagoon

emissions (RPM = ratiometric plume mapping and BLS = backwards lagrangian

stochastic modeling) produce significantly different results. The daily correlation

coefficient between the RPM and BLS measurements can range dramatically from farm

to farm, varying from -0.8 to nearly 1. This suggests that some of the apparent failure of the model to reproduce daily variations stems from measurement errors themselves. Future inventory improvements will require the development of more robust measurement methods to constrain the models and inventories.

Model performance can also be judged qualitatively, whether it captures a significant portion of the day to day observed variability in emissions (R>0.25), whether it performs neutrally (neither good nor bad, -0.04<R<0.25), or whether it performs poorly (R<-0.04). By these standards, the model performs well for 44% of the swine and dairy houses and lagoons, neutrally for 44% of the swine and dairy farms, and performs poorly for the remaining 12% of farms.

Day-to-day variability in poultry emissions was not well captured by the FEM. In Figure 3.5, the differences between seasonal trends and day-to-day trends with respect to temperature are shown for the farm CA2B, a high-rise layer barn in California.



Figure 3.5: Comparison of daily and seasonal variability in emission factors as a function of temperature for a high-rise layer chicken house in California monitored during NAEMS

Here, on a seasonal average, higher emissions occur in winter and thus associated with lower temperatures; similar results are observed for the layer farms in Indiana. In contrast, for daily variability in emissions, within a given month, often, though not always, a positive emission correlation with temperature, or even no relationship between temperature and ammonia emissions at all. Given the current FEM structure and the lack of physical explanation for these trends, it was not possible to construct an FEM that simultaneously captured seasonal and daily variability. As a major goal of the seasonal variability for predicting fine PM formation, we opted to maintain the model's tuned parameters given that they perform well for seasonal variability. This indicates that our simple semi-empirical process-based emission model does not include all the factors and processes that may affect ammonia emissions at the day-to-day level of time resolution.

3.4.4 Farm-to-farm variability

In addition to capturing seasonal and daily variability in emissions, it is important to ensure that the FEMs reproduce farm-to-farm variability that results from regional differences in climatology as well as farm-to-farm variations in manure management practices and animal feeding. For each of the farms modeled, we calculated an annual average emission factor based on both the observations and model results, seen in Figure 3.6.



Figure 3.6: Comparison of modeled versus measured average annual emission factors for all farms monitored during NAEMS (dairy, swine, and poultry farms included). Figure 3.6 shows the model's annual average emissions factors compared the measured annual average emissions factors, with an overall r² value of 0.92 (R value is 0.95). If the data are separated by animal type (dairy, swine and poultry), the r² values are 0.81, 0.44, and 0.70 for dairy, swine, and poultry respectively (R values are 0.9, 0.66, and 0.84 for each animal type). If we further separate the farms by not only animal type but by grouping also by the specific practice (and associated mass transfer resistance parameters), results are slightly more mixed. This information is presented in Table 3.4.

Animal Type	Farm Stage	Туре	Number of farms of this type studied in NAEMS	Valid Comparison Possible?	Farm to farm T variability as fraction of average T range	% EF Variability (relative to Average EF)	Model vs Measurement R value
Swine	Housing	Deep pit	2	No	n/a	n/a	n/a
		Shallow	3	Yes	0.14	0.05	-0.99
	Storage	Lagoon	5	Yes	0.23	0.31	0.18
	Storage	Basin	1	No	n/a	n/a	n/a
Dairy	Housing	Freestall	5	Yes	0.35	0.15	0.06 (0.84 excluding CA5B)
	Storage	Feedlot	1	No	n/a	n/a	n/a
	Storage	Lagoon	3	Yes	0.14	0.31	-0.83
Layer	Housing Housing	High-rise	3	Yes	0.25	0.16	0.78
		Manure Belt	1	No	n/a	n/a	n/a
Broiler	Housing	Litter- based	2	No	n/a	n/a	n/a

Table 3.4: Annual Average Emissions Factor model performance by animal and farm type

Some of the comparisons are difficult or impossible to make owing to how few farms fall into certain categories (e.g. layer manure-belt housing, swine deep-pit housing, swine basin storage, broiler housing, or a dairy cattle feedlot housing/storage). Additionally, it was difficult to evaluate model performance where there was little meteorological variability between farm locations, for example, all the shallow-pit swine farms had similar meteorology as well as little difference in annual average emission factors. In this case, the farm-to-farm differences are not able to be separated from other sources of variability in emissions factors not captured by the FEM. The model performed best when there were at least 3 farms of a particular type that were located with significantly different average meteorology and more widely varying emission factors. With these greater ranges in meteorology and emissions, the model is better able to characterize farm to farm differences. The performance evaluation shown in Table 3.4 indicates that

some of the overall skill of the FEM is simply due to its separation of different farm practices by using different mass transfer resistance parameters. Overall, the strengths of the FEMs are largely in their abilities to do capture seasonal and daily variability in emissions and investigate "what-if scenarios" in which different management choices are considered.

The mean fractional error for each animal type, with the exception of the farms whose emissions were drastically different in magnitude than the other farms for similar conditions, are: 31% for dairy farms, 18% for swine farms, 17% for layer farms, and 25% for broiler farms. These fractional errors typically fall within the range of uncertainty in measurement. As discussed in Chapter 2, the measurement of ammonia emissions can be difficult, especially for outdoor (open) sources; for instance, emissions estimates from the use of backwards Lagrangian stochastic models is estimated to be 15-20% or greater (up to more than 100%) for unstable conditions (Flesch et al., 2004). Furthermore, there is uncertainty in our estimates due to the simplicity of the model and the fact that not all sources of variability are captured by the farm emission model.

Broadly speaking, the results in Figure 3.6 show that model results are consistent with the average NAEMS observations. Earlier inventories often treated emissions with a constant emissions factor given a particular set of practices; though this may capture some of the emissions variability resulting from different management decisions, it fails to capture the seasonal distribution of emissions, which is especially important for understanding the air quality implications of these emissions. The most recent National Emissions Inventory (2011 NEIv2) has added a temperature dependence to the

ammonia emissions thus capturing some of the variability not previously addressed (USEPA-OAQPS, 2015a).

3.5 Conclusions

The National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS) offered a new source of data for us to use to improve and evaluate our Farm Emissions Models (FEMs). In order to model the ammonia emissions from the NAEMS farms and capture their observed variability (as a result of meteorological differences and differences in practices), we need to use a semi-empirical process-based model which can account for these differences, often left unconsidered in previous inventories. We evaluated the FEM against data from NAEMS for dairy housing and lagoons, swine housing and lagoons, and layer and broiler housing in terms of the model's ability to capture seasonal, daily, and farm-to-farm variability. Data used from NAEMS include meteorological parameters, feed nitrogen content, and manure pH.

The model performed well in capturing seasonal variability in emissions factors—for all but one of the dairy barns, the correlation coefficient ranges from 0.62 to 0.96; the remaining farm, a freestall barn in Washington, has an R-value of 0.03 and an unusual measured seasonal cycle. Swine housing results had R-values ranging from 0.09 to 0.91, with an average value of 0.5. Seasonal correlations for both dairy and swine storage ammonia emissions were quite strong with R-values of 0.59 to 0.94 and an average of 0.81. Mean fractional errors for swine and dairy housing were typically 10%-47% with biases mostly less than +/-20%. Storage emissions showed a greater range in error and biases, which could be due to model error or difficulties associated with

conducting outdoor ammonia emissions measurements, which require a dispersion model to calculate emissions based on observed concentrations. Similarly, for layer housing, three of the four farms have a model-observation seasonal correlation of between 0.84-0.89, but the farm with different seasonal characteristics, a high-rise layer farm in North Carolina, and the r value is -0.43. This result highlights the farm-to-farm ammonia emissions variability that can be observed, even on farms using the same practices and using the same techniques for emissions measurements. The seasonal correlation coefficients for broilers were 0.50 and 0.61 respectively.

The FEMs ability to predict daily variability in emissions shows promise but was less strong overall than the seasonal evaluation. For half of the farms evaluated, the daily correlation coefficient is greater than 0.25, demonstrating that a component of the daily variability can be explained simply with daily variation in meteorology. For most of the remaining farms, the model had little or no skill in predicting daily variability (daily correlation coefficients between -0.04 and 0.23), and for one dairy lagoon, the correlation coefficient is -0.76. Generally, the daily model performs better for housing than storage. The apparently poor FEM performance in predicting daily emissions from storage may result partly from the difficulty of performing these measurements, accounting for dispersion, and inferring emissions. For example, even two widely used methods for computing emissions, RPM and BLS, do not always correlate well with each other on the daily time scale. Additionally, we found that daily variations in ammonia emissions for poultry were not well captured by the FEM; for three of the four layer farms, seasonally there were higher emissions associated with colder

temperatures while in terms of daily variability, warmer temperatures tended to be associated with higher emissions.

In addition to evaluating model performance in terms of seasonal and daily ammonia emissions factors, we also wanted to be sure the FEM was able to differentiate between farms and practices. To do this we compared the average annual emission factor for each farm monitored from the FEM and the NAEMS data. As shown in Figure 3.6, the overall r² value is 0.92 for all animal types, while, when considering dairy, swine and poultry separately the r² values are 0.81, 0.44 and 0.70 respectively. This result shows the model's skill in capturing big picture emissions as well as the ammonia emissions variability driven by practices in addition to meteorology which has been shown in both seasonal and daily evaluations. Our model is relatively simple, as it relies on accessible input data (meteorological conditions) and a few tuned parameters and so cannot be expected to capture all the variability in emissions; this is especially true for open-sources (e.g. lagoons) whose emissions can be highly uncertain, even using most recent measurement techniques.

This chapter has demonstrated the FEMs' skill in capturing the seasonal, daily and farm-to-farm variability in ammonia emissions as observed during the NAEMS campaign. The data collected during NAEMS provided an unprecedented level of detail in terms of farm conditions and long-term observations of emissions that allowed us to improve the model's performance. Chapter 4 details how the FEM is used as the basis for a new national inventory for cattle, swine and poultry ammonia emissions.

CHAPTER 4: DEVELOPING A NEW NATIONAL INVENTORY--DATA SOURCES, MANAGEMENT PRACTICES AND NH₃ EMISSIONS

4.1 Abstract

The prediction of PM_{2.5} concentrations in chemical transport models (CTMs) requires emissions inventories with spatial and seasonal variation. One promising approach for the creation of this type of inventory is a process-based model. Here we apply the results presented in the previous chapters to the US populations of swine, cattle, and poultry. Temperature, wind speed and precipitation data were used for 2011; future work will construct an updated inventory for 2014 with its own meteorological inputs from the National Climate Data Center. Regionally-specific manure management practices were obtained from the most recently completed National Animal Health Monitoring Surveys (NAHMS) for beef, dairy, swine, and poultry; the survey data used is all from 2006-2012. Animal populations by county were collected from the most recent USDA animal census, completed for 2012.

Based on our model, total annual ammonia emissions for 80 million beef cattle, 9 million dairy cows, 65 million swine, 350 million layers and 1.5 billion broilers are estimated to be 720 Gg, 202 Gg, 435 Gg, 93 Gg, and 264 Gg respectively, totalling 1.7 Tg of ammonia emissions annually; detailed results from this work are described in this chapter. The most recent National Emission Inventory (NEI2011v2) had livestock ammonia emissions totalling 1.97 Tg, which is greater than our inventory, but the limited characterization in the literature of some manure management practices introduces additional uncertainties to our model's results. Comparing to the inventory previously

produced by Pinder et al. (2006), our results are approximately 220 Gg lower annually, a difference of less than 20%, which is within the range of uncertainty in our model.

Some regions' ammonia emissions are driven by a single livestock type, while other locations are heavily agricultural and have significant emissions from cattle, swine, and poultry. As expected, ammonia emissions vary seasonally, typically with a greater emissions in the summer than the winter, but locations dominated by poultry tended to have a weaker dependence on meteorology than those dominated by cattle or swine emissions. Additionally, significant day to day emissions variability is noted estimated by the model; total ammonia emissions in the United States can vary by more than 1500 tons from one day to the next. Warmer days during the winter appear to have a particularly strong effect on the emissions factors produced by the model than those during the summer, which could particularly important for particulate matter formation, especially in the Midwest (Stanier et al., 2012).

4.2 Introduction/background

4.2.1 Previous inventories

Emissions of ammonia are highly seasonally variable, as discussed in previous chapters. Additionally, the role of ammonia in particulate matter formation is also seasonally variable; during the wintertime, excess ammonia is more likely to react with nitric acid to form particulate ammonium nitrate, as this reaction is favored at colder temperatures. This reaction is less thermodynamically favorable during the summer with warmer temperatures. As a result of the differences in the role of ammonia in

particulate matter formation during different seasons, it is particularly important that the emissions inventory used captures these seasonal differences in order to be used to accurately predict fine particulate matter concentrations throughout the year via the use of a chemical transport model (CTM).

Previously, there have been a number of approaches to estimate ammonia emissions at various spatial and temporal resolutions in order to produce a national level ammonia emissions inventory. Traditional inventories (Battye et al., 2003) have most often relied on the use of single emission factors for each animal type to characterize emissions; this approach captures none of the variability in emissions that results from differences in manure management practices and meteorology that are known to impact ammonia emissions. More recent national inventories (USEPA-OAQPS, 2015a), like the NEI 2011v2 have implemented a temperature dependence, where emissions in a particular location are a function of the daily average temperature (with higher emissions in the summer and lower emissions during the winter), in to the ammonia emissions inventory for livestock. While this method is able to capture a significant portion of emissions variability from differences in temperature, it still fails to account for the emissions differences resulting from regionally-specific manure management practices and the other environmental factors (besides temperature) that can impact emissions of ammonia from housing, storage, and manure application from livestock production. Several emissions inventories for ammonia emissions in Europe have employed a more process-based approach, but practices in the United States often differ substantially

from those employed throughout Europe (Hutchings and Sommer, 2001; Li et al., 2012; Misselbrook and Chadwick, 2010; Webb et al., 2005).

4.2.2 Goals of the process-based inventory

The inventory described in this chapter accounts for both the emissions variability resulting from manure management choices as well as meteorology (temperature, wind speed, and precipitation) in a manner similar to that developed for dairy cows previously (Pinder et al., 2004b), utilizing the farm emissions model (FEM) framework described in Chapters 2 and 3. This earlier inventory for dairy cows was developed to capture the seasonal variability in emissions. Here, we wanted to develop inventories not only for dairy cattle, but also beef cattle, swine, and poultry (layers and broilers), by including all major livestock types we create a more complete picture of national ammonia emissions. Additionally, this inventory is different than previous work because it produces daily emissions of ammonia; this level of temporal resolution was evaluated using data from the highly time-resolved data (from NAEMS) and described in Chapter 3. The goal of this work was to produce an inventory of ammonia emissions with daily time resolution for beef, swine, and poultry (layers and broilers) in the United States.

This chapter describes the construction of the ammonia emissions inventory. Information about animal population, distributions of manure management practices, daily time-resolved emission factors, total ammonia emissions by county and by animal type based on an assumed distribution of practices, and a discussion of the sensitivity of the model and inventories to the regional distribution of manure managment practices for beef, dairy, swine, and poutlry in the United States are all included.

4.3 Data sources and Method Description

4.3.1 Meteorological data

In order to produce a daily time-resolved emissions, the FEMs require daily average temperature and wind speed as well as daily precipitation as inputs. The inventory produced previously (described in Pinder et al. (2006)), took as inputs from the National Climate Data Center (NCDC) the long-term monthly average temperature, monthly average windspeed and total monthly precipitation. Then, the FEM computed a statistical representation of day-to-day temperatures using the standard deviation in temperature within a given month. There is no wind variability in day to day wind speed; the monthly average wind speed is used for every day in the month. For precipitation, the precipitation frequency to be used in the model was defined by a single input. This allows for days with and without precipitation but does not mimic actual precipitation patterns because each precipitation event was of the same magnitude and occurred with the same frequency.

In this inventory, produced for 2011, we retrieved actual daily average temperatures, windspeeds, and daily precipitation totals (rather than climatological estimates of typical meteorological conditions) from the NCDC. There are 345 climate divisions in the United States, and we used daily temperature, wind, and precipitation data for each of these. Some of the climate divisions had more than one site at which all required data was collected. In the event that there was more than one site in a climate division, the site with the most complete data was selected. If there was more than one site with the location

most central to the climate division was selected. After selecting the sites to be used as representative of each of the climate divisions, the meteorological parameters were reviewed to make sure that all days had a reasonable value; missing data was denoted as -9999 in the documentation; if there were missing daily values for temperature or wind speed, the previous day's temperature or wind speed was used. For missing precipitation entries, we assumed precipitation on that day to be zero. For some climate divisions (~20 divisions), there were no sites within the climate division boundaries that had wind speed data available. For these locations, where there was no wind speed data available, the the wind speed from the nearest climate division was used.

4.3.2 Animal Populations

County-level animal population data is taken from the USDA Animal census. The census is taken every 5 years, most recently in 2012. We have assumed that there were no significant changes in the animal populations for any of the animal types between 2011 (the year for which the inventory is being produced) and 2012 when the census was conducted. There may be small fluctuations in livestock population, but since the annual data is only resolved at the state level, we are unable to accurately adjust county-level populations from the 2012 census, so we assumed that animal populations in 2011 were equivalent to those in 2012. Additionally, we plan to construct an ammonia emission inventory for 2014 using the same methods, and so we have compared state populations from 2012 to those from 2014. Generally speaking, animal populations did not change significantly, typically less than a 5% difference in state-level animal populations between 2012 and 2014. We have population data at the county-

level for the following animals: dairy cows, beef cows, feedlot beef cows, swine, layer chickens, and broiler chickens.

Additionally, there are some counties for which data is unavailable; for these, we assumed that the missing counties had a population equal to the average "missing farm." This calculation is described in equation 4.1 below.

 $Missing \ county \ population \ = \frac{Total \ State \ population - \sum_{i=1}^{\# \ counties \ w/data} \ population_i}{number \ of \ missing \ counties}$

Note: There are two sets of population numbers used in these calculations, the state total population and the county populations. The difference between the state total and the sum of the individual county populations is distributed across the counties in that state for which the animal population is unspecified.

The same approach is used for missing county-level animal populations for all states and animal types; this may cause certain counties to be over or underestimated, but should average out at the state and regional level. Additionally, for states where the total population is unknown, the missing counties are assumed to have a population of 0 for that animal type/practice. As a result of this missing population data, our inventory for these locations will obviously be biased low. This is expected to have little effect on the overall inventory; state total populations are only unknown for 1 state for swine and 4 states for beef feedlot emissions. The missing state has less than 0.1% of the total swine population in the country and the 4 states without feedlot population totals make up less than 2.4% of the total beef cattle population in the United States (of which less than 15% is expected to be housed on feedlots).

4.3.3 Regional Manure Management Practices

4.3.3.1 Overview

In addition to location-specific meteorology, our model requires farm-type inputs which describe the type of animal housing, manure storage and application methods used for a particular location. Each location is expected to have some combination of practices; for example, in a single county, some of the swine farms may use deep-pit housing, lagoon storage, and irrigation application while other farms use shallow-pit housing with lagoon storage and injection application. In order to understand the differences in regional preferences for particular manure management strategies, information was extracted from the most recent National Animal Health Monitoring Surveys done by the USDA. The beef cattle NAHMS was completed in 2007 and feedlot beef in 2011; dairy cattle data was from 2002 and 2007; swine data were collected for 2006 and 2012, and the most recent poultry NAHMS was completed for 2010. The most recent data available had limited spatial resolution (compared to previous work (Pinder et al., 2004b)), and so this work is only able to resolve large-scale regional differences in practices. For beef cow-calf systems, the United States was divided into four regions, but only two regions for beef housed on feedlots. For swine, the country was divided into three regions—Midwest, East, and South, and for layers, there were four regions— Northeast, Southeast, Central and West. An additional limitation in the data available for the characterization of the farm practices was that for some of the questions asked by the study, results were only reported in terms of percent of operations which used a particular practice. This may give too much weight to the practices used on smaller farms which have a relatively small contribution to the overall level of ammonia emissions from a particular livestock type or practice. Thus, some uncertainty is

expected as a result of the limited quantity of data available regarding manure management practices throughout the country.

As was previously discussed by Pinder et al. (2004b), one of the factors most limiting to the FEM's skill is the lack of information about manure managment practices throughout the country. It is unclear whether these uncertainties result in the overprediction or underprediction of total ammonia emissions from livestock in the United States.

4.3.3.2 Dairy Practices

The distribution of practices used in dairy cattle is unlikely to have changed substantially in the years following the work of Pinder et al. (2004a, 2004b), as seen when comparing the two most recent NAHMS results (from 2002 and 2007) to the 1996 NAHMS data used in the cited work. However, the data available for the 2002 and 2007 NAHMS was less regionally specific than was used in the previous work (USDA-APHIS, 2007a, 2007b, 2007c, 2002a, 2002b). The manure management practice information received at that time included state-specific data, something not available for the current study years. Additionally, storage and application data for 2002 and 2007 was only available by fraction of surveyed operations rather than by population which may give too much weight to practices employed primarily at smaller dairy farms. Manure management practices can be described regionally as either in the West or East; the distribution of practices is shown below in Figure 4.1a-b.



Figure 4.1a: Regional distribution of dairy housing practices from 2007 NAHMS for Eastern and Western United States. Eastern States include MN, IA, MO, AR, LA and eastward. Western states are the rest of the continental US.



Figure 4.1b: Distribution of storage and application practices across the US. Regionally separated data was not available from the 2007 NAHMS, and results are presented in terms of % of farming operations rather than % of animal population.

4.3.3.3 Beef Practices

As stated previously, information regarding beef manure management practices was

provided through the USDA National Animal Health Monitoring Study (NAHMS) with a

regional distribution of practices. Beef data was provided for beef housed on feedlots

as well as those that are a part of cow-calf systems. Cow-calf systems are those in which cattle are left on pasture or rangeland and the cows are kept with their calves, often until the calves are 1-2 years old and ready for sale. Feedlots are a much denser style of production in which large numbers of cattle are housed on concrete or packed earth lots and fed a mixture of corn and grains. From the information from NAHMS and the animal numbers in the USDA 2012 agriculture census, we were able to discern the fraction of cattle in each state that were housed on feedlots as opposed those raised in a pasture-based farm system.

The distribution of manure management practices for the states included in the National Animal Health Monitoring System (NAHMS) (as split between feedlots and cow-calf systems) can be seen in Table S4.1 in the supplemental information (USDA-APHIS, 2013a, 2013b, 2009a, 2009b, 2009c). The regional distribution of cattle on feed can be seen in the Figure 2 below. There have been relatively few studies that have characterized the emissions from cow-calf or pasture-based systems in the United States, especially compared to the emissions characterization that has been done at a variety of Texas and Oklahoma feedlots. The grazing portion of the beef farm emission model is therefore less constrained and may result in the underprediction of emissions of ammonia from beef not housed on feedlots.



Figure 4.2. Regional distribution of beef cattle on feed. States in the West include: AZ, CA, CO, ID, MT, NV, NM, OR, UT, WA, and WY. The states in the Central region are: IL, IN, IA, KS, MI, MN, MO, NE, ND, SD, and WI. TX and OK are in the South Central region. The remaining states are in the East.

4.3.3.4 Swine Practices

There is significant regional variability in the housing types and manure management practices (in terms of storage and application) for swine production in the United States. Some of the management choices made are the result of meteorological limitations (i.e. deep-pit versus shallow-pit housing) while others are chosen for economic reasons (less expensive to use irrigation application rather than injection).

Using the information provided by NAHMS, regional distributions of management practices can be described (USDA-APHIS, 2008a, 2008b, 2008c, 2007d). The United States can be broken into three regions based on this data: the South, the Midwest, and the East. Each of these groups of states has a unique distribution of housing, storage, and application practices, seen in Figure 4.3. The recalibration of manure storage for swine production was the most significant change between the FEM between the literature evaluation in Chapter 2 and the NAEMS-based evaluation from Chapter 3, and this has resulted in a significant increase in the contribution of ammonia emissions from swine lagoon storage.



Figure 4.3: Regional Distribution of swine manure management practices. The Midwest includes: ID, IA, MN, MT, ND, NE, SD, WI and WY. The Eastern states include CT, DE, IL, IN, ME, MD, MA, MI, NH, NJ, NY, OH, PA, RI, and VT. The remainder of the states are included in the Southern region.



There are two major housing types used in the production of layer chickens in the United States. These are high-rise layer houses and manure-belt layer houses. The

chief difference between these two housing types is the frequency with which manure is

removed; in high-rise barns, manure is removed 1-2 times each year, while manure is

removed on a daily or weekly basis from manure-belt barns, which results in lower housing emissions and ammonia concentrations but leaves greater quantities in the manure that is headed toward storage and application or processing. High-rise housing operations are more prevalent than manure-belt houses throughout the United States (Figure 4.4), but manure-belt are somewhat more common in the western and central portions of the United States. There are some limitations on the abiility of the FEM for both the storage and application of poultry manure as there have been few studies to characterize these emissions. The majority of ammonia emissions from poultry are expected to be from housing (particularly for high-rise facilities).



Figure 4.4. Regional distribution of layer housing types. The West includes: AZ, CA, CO, ID, MT, NV, NM, OK, OR, TX, UT, WA, and WY. The Central states are: AR, IL, IN, IA, KS, MN, MO, NE, ND, OH, SD, and WI. Southeastern states are: AL, FL, GA, KY, LA, MS, NC, SC, TN, VA, WV. The remaining states are considered to be in the Northeast.

Additionally, the most recent NAHMS information does not capture the more recent trend towards cage-free housing or pasture-raised layer chickens (USDA-APHIS, 2014a, 2014b, 2000). Cage-free housing is a relatively minor housing practice currently (<10% of all layer chickens are raised on cage free farms, but state-specific data is unavailable so this may vary significantly by state, and this may not represent a similar

fraction of total eggs produced), but is poised to grow as a result of concerns about animal health and welfare and the demand for cage-free eggs increases. According to the most recently completed NAHMS, cage-free production occurs at approximately 3% of large layer operations (more than 100,000 layers), and approximately one-quarter of smaller farms. The data provided by NAHMS does not specify the fractions of total layer populations raised at particular farm sizes, but large farms have become increasingly common and it is expected that most eggs are produced from larger farms (USDA, 2014). Cage-free and organic products are more likely to come from smaller farms whose emissions have not been well-characterized in the literature. Cage-free production is more common in Europe than the United States, so emissions studies from Europe could be used to better characterize cage-free housing emissions (Charles, 2016; Shepherd et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2015).

4.3.3.6 Broiler Practices

The major differences in broiler chicken production occur not in terms of farm type, but in the frequency with which barns are entirely cleaned out of their litter material; literature suggests that barns that are cleaned out more frequently have lower emissions than those in which litter material is built up and reused (USDA-APHIS, 2011, 2005a, 2005b, 2005c). Additional factors that may alter the emissions from these facilities include what the bedding or litter material is made up of as well as how long each barn stays empty between flocks. There is not sufficient data to include either bedding material or the time between flocks within the emissions inventory. In fact, much of the variability that might be caused by these factors on a single farm will likely

be averaged out as a result of short lifecycle of these birds, which take less than two months to reach market size. Additionally, we have not included pasture-raised or organic practices as they make up a very small fraction of total bird population and the emissions from these farms has not been characterized in the literature. The limited data available regarding manure storage and application from broiler housing may result in the underestimation of ammonia emissions from this animal type.

4.3.4 Inventory Construction

As described in the previous sections, the following information is required to produce an accurate, daily time-resolved ammonia emissions inventory: daily meteorology, regional distribution of management practices, and county-level animal population data. We use the FEM described in the previous chapters to produce emissions factors for each day for each county in the continental United States for each animal type. The flow of information to produce daily, location and practice specific emission factors is shown in Figure 4.5 below.



Figure 4.5. Process to produce location and practice specific daily emission factors. The farm emission model is run for all combinations of practices for each location to produce a set of daily emission factors for each location. The procedure for producing a single emission factor for each day, weighted by the distribution of practices is shown below in Figure 4.6, where the values from 1-n describe the set of manure management practices, j specifies the day of the year, k indicates the county location, and a specifies animal type; f indicates what fraction of the animal population in a specific location is raised using a particular set of practices. The distribution of management practices is assumed to be constant throughout the year. Thus, the composite emission factor for a given day is simply the fraction of the animal population in a given location raised using a certain set of practices multiplied by the emission factor for that practice (in that location for that day) and summed over all management practices. Then, to calculate the total emissions for that animal type in that county for each day, we simply multiply by the animal population of that animal type in the county (Equation 4.2).



Figure 4.6. Composite emission factors for a specific day, location, and animal type.

$$Emissions_{j,k,a} \left(\frac{kg}{d \cdot county}\right) = Daily EF_{j,k,a} \times Population_{k,a}$$
(4.2)

The total emissions in any given day may then be calculated by adding up all the emissions in each county for all animal types. This is shown in Equation 4.3. Total annual emissions for each location are calculated by summing the daily emissions over

the entire year; this is described in Equation 4.4. Total annual emissions (for all animal types and all locations) are described in Equation 4.5.

$$Emissions_{j,k} \left(\frac{kg}{d \cdot county}\right) = \sum_{a=1}^{all \ animal \ types} Emissions_{j,k,a} \left(\frac{kg}{d \cdot county}\right)$$
(4.3)

$$Emissions_k \left(\frac{kg}{y}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{365} Emissions_{j,k} \left(\frac{kg}{d \cdot county}\right)$$
(4.4)

$$Emissions_{total}\left(\frac{kg}{y}\right) = \sum_{k=1}^{US\ Counties} Emissions_k\left(\frac{kg}{d\cdot county}\right)$$
(4.5)

By producing the emission factors from the FEM and then weighting these results separately, it is easier to adjust the distribution of manure management practices used, which can be used to investigate how sensitive total emissions are to these practices.

4.4 Overview of Results

Results are presented in the following sections for total US livestock ammonia emissions and by animal type (swine, dairy, beef, layers, and broilers). This section will present annual fluxes of emissions (presented in terms of kg/km²/y) for each animal type (by county) and total annual livestock ammonia flux. Daily resolved emissions of ammonia are also presented. Additional results can be found in the supplemental information for each state that shows day-to-day variability in emissions for all livestock as well as by animal type.

4.4.1 Total Annual Emissions of Ammonia from Livestock

Figure 4.7 presents a summary of the results, namely daily emissions for the year 2011 for each livestock category as well as the total livestock emissions. Annual ammonia emissions from livestock total approximately 1.7 Tg NH₃.

Based on the model results, swine contribute the most to total emissions, particularly during the summer (42%), with beef contributing 25% and dairy 12%. Layers and broilers contribute 5% and 15% respectively. The swine contribution is higher than originally expected, likely as a result of the increase in swine population over the past 10-15 years. Additionally, the swine emissions from manure storage were also increased as a result of the higher ammonia emissions that were observed during NAEMS (and to which the model was re-tuned, described in the previous chapter).



Figure 7. Total US Livestock Ammonia Emissions for swine, dairy, beef, layers, and broilers in tons NH3 emitted per day

There is an obvious seasonality to the total ammonia emissions, largely driven by the emissions from swine production in the United States. Beef emissions make comparable contributions to total emissions during the winter as swine; dairy farms have a similar seasonality to the beef emissions. Next most important to total emissions are

broilers, and finally, layers make the smallest contribution to the national emissions inventory for ammonia from livestock. Furthermore, there is a weaker seasonal trend for the poultry emissions sources when compared to swine and both types of cattle. In Figure 4.8, we compare our results to those presented by Pinder et al. (2006) by adding up daily emissions to get total livestock ammonia emissions in Gg/month. The results from the daily model are approximately 15% lower than those in the monthly inventory from Pinder.

The seasonality of overall emissions in this work is more driven by swine emissions; the previous model's seasonality is more similar to the seasonal patterns in beef and dairy cattle ammonia emissions. This means that the current inventory predicts higher summertime and lower wintertime emissions of ammonia than in the previous study. It should also be noted that the meteorology used in the two inventories is different (the Pinder inventory is based on long-term meteorological averages while the current work is based on actual daily meteorology from 2011).



Figure 4.8.Comparison of livestock NH₃ emissions inventories from Pinder (2006) and 2011 inventory.



Figure 4.9: Annual Ammonia flux from all livestock types (swine, dairy and beef cattle, and layer and broiler chickens) for each county in the United States (kg/km²/year).

The map in Figure 4.9 shows annual-average ammonia emissions fluxes by county across the United States. In this figure, areas with intensive agriculture stand out as expected. For example, the San Joaquin Valley of California is evident (home to 5 million cattle and 60 million chickens), as is the state of Iowa (home to more than 20 million swine, 54 million chickens, and 4 million cattle), and the Southern Coastal plain of North Carolina (with 9 million swine and 63 million chickens).

4.4.2 Swine Emissions Inventory

The US swine population is located primarily in the Midwest and Southeast. Figure 4.10 shows a typical breakdown of where in the manure management process ammonia emissions occur. In the Midwest, where deep-pit housing dominates, there is a roughly even split between housing emissions, storage emissions, and application emissions. In the Southeast, shallow-pit housing dominates (shallow-pit houses are cleaned more frequently than deep pit houses, and so the manure removed from them is richer in nitrogen), and so emissions from manure storage, mostly (anaerobic) lagoons dominate, contributing more than half the total emissions from a farm.



Figure 4.10: Typical regional contributions of housing, storage and application to total swine emissions.

However, the breakdown between management stages is not consistent throughout the year—during the winter, housing emissions contribute more to total emissions while storage and application emissions approach zero. This variation results from the fact that houses must be maintained at a comfortable temperature while manure storages may freeze and application may not be occurring during the winter. Unfortunately, the frequency of manure application has not been well described in the literature, in NAEMS or by NAHMs, so we simply assumed that manure was applied daily. This may result in the overestimation of emissions from application during the summer and winter and underestimation in the spring and fall when manure is known to be applied as fertilizer.

Figure 4.11 shows the daily variability in ammonia emissions from the model as well as emissions that are 125% of the model's estimate and 75% of the model results. These values were selected as they represent a conservative estimate (on the lower end of expected uncertainty) of the uncertainty inherent in our model resulting both from measurement uncertainties (on which model evaluation was based and was described in Chapters 2 and 3) and from uncertainties in the distribution of practices throughout the country as described by the regional distributions in practices from NAHMS.

For comparison, emissions recommendations from previous studies by Faulkner and Shaw (2008) and Battye et al. (1994, 2003) are also presented. These represent levels of emissions currently in use within inventories.



Figure 4.11. US Swine Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH₃/d. The arrow in the figure indicates a particularly warm day (for the winter) in both North Carolina and Iowa.

Wintertime emissions are lower than the constant emissions recommendations of Battye and Faulkner, but summertime emissions are much higher. The higher emissions from the farm emission model result from higher expected emissions from manure storage, particularly during warm temperatures, especially in the Southeast. These high manure storage emissions were first seen at the farms studied during NAEMS.

US emissions from swine are located mostly in the Midwest (Iowa, Indiana, and Illinois) and Eastern North Carolina. This is shown in Figure 4.12 in terms of annual total ammonia flux per square kilometer. Even though there are half as many swine in North Carolina as Iowa, the warmer climate drives higher emissions from each animal.



Figure 4.12. Annual swine ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km^{2/}y. Intense production regions in Iowa and North Carolina are noted.

The magnitude of total swine emissions can vary by an order of magnitude (or more) between a cold winter's day and a warm summer one. Emissions can also vary dramatically between one day and the next. For example, as noted by the arrow in Figure 11, the emissions on February 16 were 240 tons lower than on February 17; this represents a more than 40% increase in total emissions from one day to the next. February 17 was significantly warmer than February 16 in both North Carolina and in lowa, home to nearly half of the country's swine population. Variability in total emissions is even more obvious during the summer when emissions are at a higher level in general. The model's ability to show the day-to-day variability in ammonia emissions, as evident in the model results, will be particularly helpful in identifying the potential for air quality events that occur during winter where a single warm day can produce a "burst" of emissions resulting in massive PM formation and causing relatively rural locations (like most of lowa) to be in non-attainment for the fine particulate matter ambient air quality standard (Stanier et al., 2012).

In addition to the day-to-day and seasonal variability in emissions that are captured by this approach to inventory construction, we can also identify regional differences in emission factors for swine. This is shown in Figure 4.13.



Figure 4.13. Regional distribution of swine annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal/year)

4.4.3 Beef Emissions Inventory

The US beef inventory is more dispersed throughout the country than either swine or poultry populations. Most beef cattle are raised in the Central United States, with a greater fraction of these animals on feedlots here than in the rest of the country. Emissions rates from feedlots are much greater than from cattle on pastures for a comparable number of animals because of the inability of waste (and the nitrogen in the waste) to infiltrate the surface of the feedlot. As stated previously, there have been few studies which monitor ammonia emissions from cow-calf or pasture based systems. The emissions from grazing animals are expected to be significantly lower than those from animals housed on feedlots, but results range from 2 kg/animal/y – 9 kg/animal/y.

Even though emissions from grazed animals are much lower (10-15% of the emissions relative to an animal housed under the same meteorological conditions on a feedlot), because so many fewer animals are on feed, both grazed and fed beef cattle are important to the overall national inventory of emissions. Daily-resolved beef ammonia emissions are shown in Figure 4.14.



Figure 4.14. US Beef Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH₃/d.

The regional distribution of annual ammonia fluxes are shown in Figure 4.15.


Figure 4.15. Annual beef ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km^{2/}y.

Annual ammonia fluxes from beef are greatest in the Great Plains region of the country, particularly through Texas, Oklahoma, Kansas and South Dakota.

Using the FEM also allows us to visualize regional differences in annual emissions factors. For beef, this is driven not only by the local meteorology, but also by the fraction of animals in a particular location that are raised on feed (as opposed to pasture). In locations where the fed beef fraction is particularly high, emissions are higher than in some locations which may have warmer temperatures but a smaller fraction of cattle raised on feed. This is shown in Figure 4.16.



Figure 4.16. Regional distribution of beef annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal/year)

4.4.4 Dairy Emissions Inventory

Dairy production in the United States is primarily located in the Northeast (New York and Pennsylvania), the Upper Midwest (especially Wisconsin), and the San Joaquin Valley of California. The results for the dairy inventory are expected to be very similar in seasonal distribution to those produced previously by Pinder et al. (2004); however, the animal populations have been updated and practices have been altered to reflect the distribution of manure management practices presented in the most recent NAHMS reports. Annual dairy emissions range from 10-60 kg/animal, with significant emissions from each part of the manure management process. As with swine, we assumed daily manure application because there was not enough information to assume any other frequency; this may cause over-predictions in winter and summer emissions from application and under-predictions in the spring and fall. Daily variability in dairy ammonia emissions is shown in Figure 4.17. Again, comparisons to recommendations from previous studies are shown for context.



Figure 4.17. US Dairy Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH₃/d.

The dairy population distribution is evident in the map of annual ammonia fluxes from dairy cattle. This is shown in Figure 4.18. Additionally, by using the FEM, we were able to determine the regional distribution of emissions factors for dairy production in the United States. Here, we have the annual emission factors (per animal), as driven by both meteorology and the regional distribution of practices.

Based on this assessment, it appears that the model may be under-predicting the emissions associated with farms located in colder regions. Furthermore, due to the limited information regarding dairy practices that was available from the recent NAHMS report, the distribution of manure management practices may (provided in % of operations rather than animal population) be giving to much weight to practices used on smaller farms. This is shown in Figure 4.19.



Figure 4.18. Annual ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km^{2/}y. Dairy population is most concentrated in the San Joaquin Valley, CA and Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, and New York.



Figure 4.19. Regional distribution of dairy annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal/year)

4.4.5 Layer Emissions Inventory

Poultry ammonia emissions have not been well-described in the literature, especially for manure storage and application. As such, it is likely that our overall emissions may be an underestimate. Emissions from poultry in general are less driven by meteorological conditions than other animal types. There are also interesting trends in layer ammonia emissions (with respect to temperature) that were identified during the evaluation of the FEM with data from NAEMS in the previous chapter—wintertime emissions tended to be higher than summertime emissions, but within a single warm season month, warmer

temperatures were associated with higher daily emissions. In this inventory, we have attempted to capture both scales of temporal variability in ammonia emissions.

Day-to-day variability in ammonia emissions from layers is presented in Figure 4.20 below. Previous emissions recommendations are also shown for context.



Figure 4.20. US Layer Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH₃/d.

As expected the emissions are less driven by temperature than seen for swine, dairy cattle and beef cattle. Furthermore, it seems that the results from the FEM are slightly higher than previous recommendations for layer emissions.

Layer production is particularly concentrated in a handful of counties, not necessarily across entire states. Particularly intense emissions fluxes are shown in counties in the Midwest (Iowa, Illinois and Indiana) and throughout the Southeast, from Texas to North Carolina. These results are shown in Figure 4.21.



Figure 4.21. Annual ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km^{2/}y. Layer population is most concentrated in counties throughout the Midwest and across the Southeast.

The regional distribution of annual emission factors is shown in Figure 4.22 below; this highlights the model's ability to capture not only temporal variability in emissions but also spatial variability. The differences in ammonia emissions factors result from both differences in meteorology as well as differences in the distribution of manure management practices, especially the prevalence of high-rise versus manure-belt housing.



Figure 4.22. Regional distribution of layer annual emission factors (shown in kg/animal unit/year)

Overall, layer chicken emissions are a minor contributor to the national emissions inventory, but for some states, highlighted in Figure 21, layer emissions can be very important. For example, layer emissions make up approximately 20% of annual emissions in Alabama and Florida, 40% of emissions in Maine, and nearly 50% of emissions in New Jersey.

4.4.6 Broiler Emissions Inventory

Similar to layer emissions, broiler emissions are less temperature driven than emissions from cattle or swine. Additionally, the fact that the lifecycle of broiler chickens is so

short (6-8 weeks) makes emissions characterizations difficult. For the purposes of this inventory, we assumed a single age for the chicken population for the model since any age variability is likely to be averaged out at the resolution at the farm-level and the level for which this inventory is created (county resolution). Emissions from broiler litter storage and application or disposal have not been well-characterized in the literature, and it is expected that the emissions inventory as presented may underestimate broiler emissions from manure storage and application.

Total US broiler ammonia emissions with daily resolution are shown in Figure 4.23. Recommendations from Faulkner and Battye are shown as a point of comparison to our daily variable emissions inventory.



Figure 4.23. US Broiler Emissions (2011) presented in tons NH₃/d.

Broiler production is largely concentrated in the Southeastern and Mid-Atlantic states. As the chickens (particularly when they are small) need to be kept warm, it is likely easier to maintain the optimal environment in these regions. The annual broiler ammonia flux (normalized to county area) is shown in Figure 4.24.



Figure 4.24. Annual broiler ammonia flux (normalized by county area) in kg/km^{2/}y. Broiler population is most concentrated in counties throughout the Mid-Atlantic and across the Southeast.

The regional distribution of annual emission factors for broilers, highlighting the model's ability to differentiate spatial variability in emissions is shown in Figure 4.25. Warmer temperatures are clearly associated with higher annual emission factors than cooler ones for broilers; differences in meteorology drive the spatial and temporal variability in emissions from broilers in our inventory.



Figure 4.25. Regional emission factor distribution for broilers, in kg/animal unit/year.5 Discussion

In this chapter, we developed a county-level, daily-resolved ammonia emissions inventory for swine, beef cattle, dairy cattle, layers and broilers across the United States. Swine production contributes approximately 42% of the total ammonia emissions, with beef contributing 25%, broilers contributing 15%, dairy cattle contributing 12% and layers represent the remaining 5% of total annual livestock emissions.

The swine emissions from our model are higher than previous studies as a result of new data from NAEMS indicating that very high summer manure storage emissions are possible. It is also possible that beef emissions are under-predicted; grazing cattle

emissions are not well-characterized so our parameterization of this management practice is based on relatively little data, but these emissions are very important. Emissions from poultry are less seasonally variable than other animal types, but production is more concentrated in smaller regions, meaning that they can be very locally important.

In total, US livestock emissions in 2011 were approximately 1.7 Tg according to our model. Of this total, 723 Gg are from swine, 435 Gg are from beef, 202 Gg are from dairy, 93 Gg are from layer chickens, and 260 Gg are from broilers. The total ammonia emissions from swine, beef, dairy, layer and broiler production from the 2011 NEI were 1.97 Tg with contributions of 435 Gg from swine, 534 Gg from beef, 535 Gg from dairy, 146 Gg from layers, and 319 Gg from broilers (USEPA-OAQPS, 2015a, 2015c, 2013). This means that our model predicts significantly greater emissions from the US swine population than the NEI, while our model's prediction of dairy emissions is 333 Gg lower than the NEI estimate. Beef, layer and broiler emissions are all also under predicted but there is only a 20-30% difference in the inventories for these animal types all shown in Figure 4.26 below.



Figure 4.26. Comparison of NEI 2011v2 results and our FEM-based inventory.

Our 2011 ammonia inventory is significantly lower as a result of a number of factors. First, we expect our beef inventory to possibly be underestimated due to the limited characterization of grazing beef emissions in the literature. The spring and fall manure application from swine and dairy may also be underestimated due to the limited information available for the timing of manure application throughout the country. It is not clear what is driving such a large difference between the ammonia emissions from dairy cattle in our inventory and the 2011 NEI.

The annual emission factors (sum of daily emissions factors) from the dairy FEM are generally in line with the results reported for the seasonal model developed by Pinder et al. (2004b) which suggested that annual per animal emissions from dairy production were between 13-55 kg/animal/year. After further investigation, some locations with particularly cold climates may be under-predicted currently, as the initial model was unlikely to have been evaluated for performance at such low temperatures as are observed on a daily basis. The previous tuning of the model was done with monthly average temperatures, and these monthly average temperatures tend to be less extreme in terms of both highs and lows. There were also a few locations which had higher than 55 kg/animal/year emission factors and this can be explained also by the lack of characterization of dairy emissions at these extreme temperatures. Even considering that the emissions from dairy from the FEM may be low, that would likely

120

still be insufficient to explain the fact that the FEM predicts 2.5 times lower dairy emissions than the NEI.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

The main objectives of this work were to do the following:

- Develop farm emissions models (FEMs) for beef cattle, swine, broiler and layer chickens based on previous research (Pinder et al., 2007, 2006, 2004a, 2004b) on dairy cattle
- Evaluate these new FEMs using observations from the existing literature and the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study in their ability to capture seasonal and day-to-day variability as well as their ability to capture the differences between different manure management practices
- Construct daily-resolved, county-level ammonia emissions inventories for beef cattle, swine and poultry, using meteorology from 2011
- Compare these inventories to the most recent National Emission Inventory, NEI2011v2

The work began with the modification of an existing semi-empirical process-based model framework for the characterization of ammonia emissions from a variety of livestock types and for a range of manure management practices. The evaluation of these FEMs against literature data helped us identify gaps in knowledge, including the limited characterization of ammonia emissions from pasture-raised cattle and the storage and application of poultry manure, as well as the inherent difficulties associated with the measurement of ammonia emissions from open sources, such as storage lagoons, commonly used in the production of swine and dairy cattle in particular.

Based on the literature evaluation, we determined that the model was able to capture 20%-70% of the variability in observed emissions.

Further evaluation of the model was completed using data from the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study (NAEMS) campaign. As a result of the higher time resolution of this data, we were able to further test and improve the farm emission model to capture day to day variability in ammonia emissions; seasonal modelmeasurement correlations varied from farm to farm and animal type, but were comparable to the evaluations based on literature, mean fractional biases typically less than 20% and mean fractional errors generally in the range of 20-40%. The model was slightly less skilled in accurately capturing the day-to-day variability in ammonia emissions, but for half of the farms evaluated, the daily correlation coefficient was greater than 0.25, demonstrating that a component of the daily variability can be explained simply with daily variation in meteorology, for all but one of the remaining farms, the model had little skill (-0.04<R-value<0.24). One dairy lagoon performed particularly poorly the correlation coefficient is -0.76. The farms for which modelmeasurement agreement is poor results partly from the difficulty of performing these measurements, accounting for dispersion, and inferring emissions, and partly from factors that may not be included in the FEM.

The next objective of this work was to use the farm emissions models developed and evaluated using the literature and NAEMS data to construct a highly-resolved ammonia emission inventory for beef cattle, swine, broiler chickens, and layer chickens, as well as update the earlier dairy inventory from Pinder et al. This daily-resolved inventory

123

used daily meteorology (wind speed, average temperature, and precipitation) from the National Climate Data center for 2011. Additionally, the inventory used regionally specific inputs for the distribution of practices used in manure management; inventory accuracy could likely be improved if data about practices was available with greater spatial resolution, and if they were available in terms animal populations raised with certain management practices, not just in terms of farming operations. Another key feature in our inventory is that we produce daily composite emission factors for each county and then multiply by the animal population separately from the model run. Again, if more highly time-resolved data for animal population was available, we might be able to further reduce the uncertainties in our ammonia emissions inventory. Annual total emissions from our inventory were 1.7 Tg for 2011, with 42% of the ammonia emissions from broiler production, 13% from dairy cattle, and 5% from layer production.

An emissions inventory is most valuable if it accurately reflects the actual emissions from a particular source. Following the construction of the county-level daily resolved beef, dairy, swine and poultry inventories, we wanted to compare the total swine, beef, dairy, layer and broiler emissions to those reported in the 2011 NEIv2. The 2011 NEI has a total of 1.9 Tg of emissions from these types of animals, which is roughly 200 Gg greater than the FEM based inventory. The largest differences between the two overall inventories are for swine (our inventory predicts 280 Gg greater emissions) and for dairy cattle (the NEI estimates 300 Gg more ammonia than our inventory). More detailed evaluation of the inventory will need to be completed in order to ensure it accurately

124

captures the spatial and temporal variability in emissions across the United States. This will involve additional comparisons at a variety of spatial and temporal scales of our model's inventory to the 2011 National Emission Inventory. Additionally, we will need to determine whether the emissions inventory produced by the FEM approach results in results in accurate ambient ammonia and ammonium concentrations via the use of a chemical transport model and comparing to observations from the Ammonia Monitoring Network (AMoN) and the National Atmospheric Deposition Program (NADP). Furthermore, we will investigate the uncertainties in our model-based inventory as it relates to sources of variability not captured by the model, data limitations (especially with respect to the distribution of management practices throughout the United States), and error and uncertainty in the emission factor measurements on which the FEM-based approach relies.

The daily emission inventory produced with our FEM-based approach offers a valuable contribution in capturing the spatial and temporal variability in ammonia emissions from swine, dairy, beef, and poultry production in the United States. However, the model is only as accurate as its inputs, and there are many details in the model that would benefit from additional observations.

Ammonia emissions measurements of pasture or range-raised cattle, layer and broiler manure storage, and poultry manure application would all be particularly helpful to more accurately constrain the model. Additionally, better reporting of the conditions under which manure ammonia emissions measurements were completed, in terms of both meteorology, manure and feed characteristics, and the methods used to make the ammonia emissions measurements would help more accurately constrain the model's inputs and improve its performance. In the course of inventory development, there was only regionally-specific data available to describe the manure management practices used at farms across the country. More detailed practice information would reduce the number of assumptions required to compute the emissions inventory.

The ability to model the spatial and temporal variability in ammonia emissions in the United States is an important step towards understanding the impact of livestock production on particulate matter formation and local and regional air quality. In this work, we have developed and evaluated farm-level models, using data from the literature and the National Air Emissions Monitoring Study, to characterize daily ammonia emissions variability from swine, beef, dairy, layer, and broiler production in the United States. Additionally, we have constructed a county-level daily emissions inventory, and compared its results to those reported in the 2011 National Emission Inventory. Future work still needs to be done to better constrain ammonia emissions from poultry manure storage and application and cattle raised on pasture through additional measurement campaigns, and further evaluation of the FEM-based emissions inventory needs to be done.

126

REFERENCES

- Aarnink, A., Keen, A., Metz, J., 1995. Ammonia emission patterns during the growing periods of pigs housed on partially slatted floors. J. Agric. Eng. 62.2, 105–116.
- Ad Hoc Committee on Air Emissions from Animal Feeding Operation (National Research Council), 2003. Air Emissions from Animal Feeding Operations: Current Knowledge, Future Needs. National Academies Press, Washington, DC.
- American Chemical Society, 2011. Friend and foe: Nitrogen pollution's little-known environmental and human health threats [WWW Document]. ScienceDaily. URL http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2011/08/110828205556.htm (accessed 1.20.15).
- American Lung Association, 2006. Health effects of particulate matter and ozone air pollution [WWW Document]. 2005 Res. Highlights. URL http://www.lung.org/assets/documents/2005-OZONE-PM-HEALTH-STUDIES-FINAL.pdf (accessed 1.20.15).
- Ansari, A.S., Pandis, S.N., 1998. Response of Inorganic PM to Precursor Concentrations. Environ. Sci. Technol. 32, 2706–2714. doi:10.1021/es971130j
- Arogo, J., Westerman, P., Heber, A., 2003. A review of ammonia emissions from confined swine feeding operations. Trans. ASAE 46, 805–817.
- ASAE, 2005. D384.2: Manure production and characteristics, ASABE. St. Joseph, MI.
- Ball, S., Hanson, D., 1999. Laboratory studies of particle nucleation: Initial results for H2SO4, H2O, and NH3 vapors. J. Geophys.
- Battye, R., Battye, W., Overcash, C., Fudge, S., 1994. Development and selection of ammonia emission factors: Final report. Durham, NC.
- Battye, W., Aneja, V.P., Roelle, P.A., 2003. Evaluation and improvement of ammonia emissions inventories. Atmos. Environ. 37, 3873–3883.
- Bolan, N., Szogi, A., Chuasavathi, T., Seshadri, B., Rothrock, M., Panneerselvam, P., 2010. Uses and management of poultry litter. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 66.4, 673–698.
- Bouwman, A., Lee, D., Asman, W., Dentener, F., VanDerHoek, K., Olivier, J., 1997. A global high-resolution emission inventory for ammonia. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 11.4, 561–587.
- Burns, R., Xin, H., Gates, R., Li, H., Overhults, D., Moody, L., Earnest, J., 2007. Ammonia emissions from broiler houses in the southeastern United States, in:

International Symposium on Air Quality and Waste Management for Agriculture. pp. 1–11.

- Casey, K., Gates, R., Wheeler, E., Zajaczkowski, J., Topper, P., Xin, H., Liang, Y., 2003. Ammonia emissions from broiler houses in Kentucky during winter, in: International Symposium on Gaseous and Odour Emissions from Animal Production Facilities. Horsens, Jutland, Denmark, pp. 1–10.
- Chantigny, M., Angers, D., Rochette, P., Belanger, G., Cote, D., 2007. Gaseous nitrogen emissions and forage nitrogen uptake on soils fertilized with raw and treated swine manure. J. Environ. Qual. 36.6, 1864–1872.
- Charles, D., 2016. Most U.S. Egg Producers Are Now Choosing Cage-Free Houses [WWW Document]. salt. URL http://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2016/01/15/463190984/most-new-hen-housesare-now-cage-free
- Chastain, J., Camberato, J., Albrecht, J., Adams, J., 1999. Swine manure production and nutrient content, in: South Carolina Confined Animal Manure Managers Certification Program. Clemson, SC, pp. 1–17.
- Cole, N., Defoor, P., Galyean, M., Duff, G., Gleghorn, J., 2006. Effects of phase-feeding of crude protein on performance, carcass characteristics, serum urea nitrogen concentrations, and manure nitrogen of finishing beef steers. J. Anim. Sci. 84.12, 3421–3432.
- Cole, N., Mason, A., Todd, R., Rhoades, M., Parker, D., 2009. Chemical composition of pen surface layers of beef cattle feedyards. Prof. Anim. Sci. 25.5, 541–552.
- Coufal, C., Chavez, C., Niemeyer, P., Carey, J., 2006. Measurement of broiler litter production rates and nutrient content using recycled litter. Poult. Sci. 85.3, 398–403.
- Donham, K., Thorne, P., Breuer, G., Powers, W., Marquez, S., Reynolds, S., 2002. Exposure Limits Related to Air Quality and Risk Assessment. Iowa Conc. Anim. Feed. Oper. Air Qual. Study 8, 164–183.
- Draaijers, G., Ivens, W., Bos, M., Bleuten, W., 1989. The contribution of ammonia emissions from agriculture to the deposition of acidifying and eutrophying compounds onto forests. Environ. Pollut. 60.1, 55–66.
- Driscoll, C., Lawrence, G., Bulger, A., Butler, T., Cronan, C., Eagar, C., Lambert, K., Likens, G., Stoddard, J., Weathers, K., 2001. Acidic Deposition in the Northeastern United States: Sources and Inputs, Ecosystem Effects, and Management Strategies: The effects of acidic deposition in the. Bioscience 51.3, 180–198.

- Driscoll, C., Whitall, D., Aber, J., Boyer, E., Castro, M., Cronan, C., Goodale, C., 2003. Nitrogen pollution in the northeastern United States: Sources, effects, and management options. Bioscience 53.4, 357–374.
- Erisman, J., Draaijers, G., Steingrover, E., VanDijk, H., Boxman, A., DeVries, W., 1998. Assessment of the exposure and loads of acidifying and eutrophying pollutants and ozone, as well as their harmful influence on the vitality of the trees and the Speulder forest ecosystem as a whole. Water. Air. Soil Pollut. 105.3, 539–571.
- Fabbri, C., Valli, L., Guarino, M., Costa, A., Mazzotta, V., 2007. Ammonia, methane, nitrous oxide and particulate matter emissions from two different buildings for laying hens. Biosyst. Eng. 97.4, 441–455.
- Fann, N., Fulcher, C., Hubbell, B., 2009. The influence of location, source, and emission type in estimates of the human health benefits of reducing a ton of air pollution. Air Qual. Atmos. Heal. 2.3, 169–176.
- Faulkner, W., Shaw, B., 2008. Review of ammonia emission factors for United States animal agriculture. Atmos. Environ. 42.27, 6567–6574.
- Fenn, M., Haeuber, R., Tonnesen, G., Baron, J., Grossman-Clarke, S., Hope, D., Jaffe, D., 2003. Nitrogen emissions, deposition, and monitoring in the western United States. Bioscience 53.4, 391–403.
- Ferguson, N., Gates, R., Taraba, J., Cantor, A., Pescatore, A., Straw, M., Ford, M., Burnham, D., 1998. The effect of dietary protein and phosphorus on ammonia concentration and litter composition in broilers. Poult. Sci. 77.8, 1085–1093.
- Flesch, T., Wilson, J., Harper, L., Crenna, B., Sharpe, R., 2004. Deducing ground-to-air emissions from observed trace gas concentrations: A field trial. J. Appl. Meteorol. 43.3, 487–502.
- Flesch, T., Wilson, J., Harper, L., Todd, R., Cole, N., 2007. Determining ammonia emissions from a cattle feedlot with an inverse dispersion technique. Agric. For. Meteorol. 144.1, 139–155.
- Galloway, J., Townsend, A., Erisman, J., Bekunda, M., Cai, Z., Freney, J., Martinelli, L., Seltzinger, S., Sutton, M., 2008. Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: recent trends, questions, and potential solutions. Science (80-.). 320.5878, 889–892.
- Gates, R., Casey, K., Wheeler, E., Xin, H., Pescatore, A., 2008. US broiler housing ammonia emissions inventory. Atmos. Environ. 42.14, 3342–3350.
- Goebes, M., Strader, R., Davidson, C., 2003. An ammonia emission inventory for fertilizer application in the United States. Atmos. Environ. 37.18, 2539–2550.

- Harper, L., Sharpe, R., 1998. Ammonia emissions from swine waste lagoons in the southeastern US coastal plains, Final Report, Div. of Air Quality, NC Dept. of Environment and Natural Resources. Raleigh, NC.
- Hatch, D., Jarvis, S., Dollard, G., 1990. Measurements of ammonia emission from grazed grassland. Environ. Pollut. 65.4, 333–346.
- Heber, A., Ni, J., Lim, T., Diehl, C., Sutton, A., Duggirala, R., Haymore, B., Kelly, D., Adamchuk, V., 2000. Effect of a manure additive on ammonia emission from swine finishing buildings. Trans. ASAE 43.6, 1895–1902.
- Hoff, S., Bundy, D., Nelson, M., Zelle, B., Jacobson, L., Heber, A., Ni, J., Zhang, Y., Koziel, J., Beasley, D., 2006. Emissions of ammonia, hydrogen sulfide, and odor before, during, and after slurry removal from a deep-pit swine finisher. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 56.5, 581–590.
- Hristov, A., Hanigan, M., Cole, A., Todd, R., McAllister, T., Ndegwa, P., Rotz, A., 2011. Review: Ammonia emissions from dairy farms and beef feedlots. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 1–35.
- Hutchings, N., Sommer, S., 2001. A detailed ammonia emission inventory for Denmark. Atmos.
- Hutchings, N., Sommer, S., Jarvis, S., 1996. A model of ammonia volatilization from a grazing livestock farm. Atmos. Environ. 30.4, 589–599.
- Jacobson, L., Hetchler, B., Johnson, V., Nicolai, R., Schmidt, D., 2005. Seasonal variations in NH3, H2S and PM10 emissions from pig and poultry buildings from a multi-state project, in: Symposium on the State of the Science of Animal Manure and Waste Management. American Society of Agricultural Engineers. St. Joseph, MI, pp. 1–6.
- James, K., 2008. The development of US ammonia emission factors for use in process based modeling. North Carolina State University.
- Jenkinson, D., 2001. The impact of humans on the nitrogen cycle, with focus on temperate arable agriculture. Plant Soil 228.1, 3–15.
- Jorgensen, H., Sorensen, P., Eggum, B., 1990. Protein and energy metabolism in broiler chickens selected for either body weight gain or feed efficiency. Br. Poult. Sci. 31.3, 517–524.
- Key, N., McBride, W., Ribaudo, M., Sneeringer, S., 2011. Trends and Developments in Hog Manure Management [WWW Document]. U.S. Dept. Agric. Econ. Res. Serv. URL http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/106384/eib81_1_.pdf (accessed 1.20.15).

- Kirchner, M., Braeutigam, S., Ferm, M., 1999. Field intercomparison of diffusive samplers for measuring ammonia. J. Environ. Monit. 1.3, 259–265.
- Klopfenstein, T., Erickson, G., 2002. Effects of manipulating protein and phosphorus nutrition of feedlot cattle on nutrient management and the environment. J. Anim. Sci. 80, E106–E114.
- Krewski, D., Burnett, R., Goldberg, M., Hoover, K., Siemiatycki, J., Jerrett, M., Abrahamowicz, M., White, W., 2003. Overview of the reanalysis of the Harvard six cities study and American Cancer Society study of particulate air pollution and mortality. J. Toxicol. Environ. Heal. Part A 66.16, 1507–1552.
- Kulmala, M., 2003. Atmospheric science. How particles nucleate and grow. Science 302, 1000–1. doi:10.1126/science.1090848
- Lacey, R., Redwine, J., Parnell, C., 2003. Particulate matter and ammonia emission factors for tunnel-ventilated broiler production houses in the southern US. Trans. ASAE 46.4, 1203–1214.
- Leduc, D., Gris, P., Lheureux, P., Gevenois, P., DeVuyst, P., Yernault, J., 1992. Acute and long term respiratory damage following inhalation of ammonia. Thorax 47.9, 755–757.
- Li, C., Salas, W., Zhang, R., Krauter, C., 2012. Manure-DNDC: a biogeochemical process model for quantifying greenhouse gas and ammonia emissions from livestock manure systems. Nutr. Cycl.
- Liang, Y., Xin, H., Wheeler, E., Gates, R., Li, H., Zajaczkowski, J., Topper, P., 2005. Ammonia emissions from US laying hen houses in Iowa and Pennsylvania. Trans. ASAE 48.5, 1927–1941.
- Lim, T., Heber, A., Ni, J., Kendall, D., Richert, B., 2004. Effects of manure removal strategies on odor and gas emissions from swine finishing. Trans. ASAE 47.6, 2041–2050.
- Lim, T., Heber, A., Ni, J., Sutton, A., Shao, P., 2003. Odor and gas release from anaerobic treatment lagoons for swine manure. J. Environ. Qual. 32.3, 406–416.
- Martin, R., 2008. Ambient Ammonia: Air Quality and Health Impacts [WWW Document]. Air Qual. Educ. Anim. Agric. Webcast Ser. Present. through Livest. Poult. Environ. Learn. Cent. URL https://www.extension.org/mediawiki/files/7/70/08junPPmartin.pdf (accessed 9.12.15).
- McGinn, S., Sommer, S., 2007. Ammonia emissions from land-applied beef cattle manure. Can. J. soil Sci. 87.3, 345–352.

- McQuilling, A.M., Adams, P.J., 2015. Semi-empirical process-based models for ammonia emissions from beef, swine, and poultry operations in the United States. Atmos. Environ. 120, 127–136. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.08.084
- Misselbrook, T., Chadwick, D., 2010. Inventory of ammonia emissions from UK agriculture 2009.
- Mittal, A., 2009. Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations: EPA Needs More Information and a Clearly Defined Strategy to Protect Air and Water Quality from Pollutants of Concern. DIANE Publishing Company, Collingdale, PA.
- Monteny, G., Erisman, J., 1998. Ammonia emission from dairy cow buildings: a review of measurement techniques, influencing factors and possibilities for reduction. NJAS wageningen J. life Sci. 46.3, 225–247.
- Morgan, R., Wood, D., Heyst, B. Van, 2014. The development of seasonal emission factors from a Canadian commercial laying hen facility. Atmos. Environ. 86, 1–8.
- Nahm, K., 2003. Evaluation of the nitrogen content in poultry manure. Worlds. Poult. Sci. J. 59.1, 77–88.
- National Research Council: AdHoc Committee on Air Emissions from Animal Feeding Operations, 2003. Air emissions from animal feeding operations: current knowledge, future needs, in: National Academies Press.
- Nicholson, F., Chambers, B., Walker, A., 2004. Ammonia emissions from broiler litter and laying hen manure management systems. Biosyst. Eng. 89.2, 175–185.
- NIOSH, CDC, USDHHS, 1992. Occupational Safety and Health Guideline for Ammonia [WWW Document]. Occup. Saf. Heal. Guidel. URL http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/81-123/pdfs/0028-rev.pdf (accessed 9.12.15).
- NPPC, 2012. Pork Facts [WWW Document]. Natl. Pork Prod. Counc. URL http://www.nppc.org/pork-facts/ (accessed 5.1.15).
- Olesen, J., Sommer, S., 1993. Modelling effects of wind speed and surface cover on ammonia volatilization from stored pig slurry. Atmos. Environ. 27.16, 2567–2574.
- Osada, T., Kuroda, K., Yonaga, M., 2000. Determination of nitrous oxide, methane, and ammonia emissions from a swine waste composting process. J. Mater. cycles waste Manag. 2.1, 51–56.
- Pelletier, N., 2008. Environmental performance in the US broiler poultry sector: Life cycle energy use and greenhouse gas, ozone depleting, acidifying and eutrophying emissions. Agric. Syst. 98.2, 67–73.

- Pinder, R., Adams, P., Pandis, S., 2007. Ammonia emission controls as a cost-effective strategy for reducing atmospheric particulate matter in the eastern United States. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41.2, 380–386.
- Pinder, R., Adams, P., Pandis, S., Gilliland, A., 2006. Temporally resolved ammonia emission inventories: Current estimates, evaluation tools, and measurement needs. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 111.16, 1984–2012.
- Pinder, R., Pekney, N., Davidson, C., Adams, P., 2004a. A process-based model of ammonia emissions from dairy cows: improved temporal and spatial resolution. Atmos. Environ. 38.9, 1357–1365.
- Pinder, R., Strader, R., Davidson, C., Adams, P., 2004b. A temporally and spatially resolved ammonia emission inventory for dairy cows in the United States. Atmos. Environ. 38.23, 3747–3756.
- Pope, C., Dockery, D., 2006. Health effects of fine particulate air pollution: lines that connect. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 56.6, 709–742.
- Portejoie, S., Martinez, J., Guiziou, F., Coste, C., 2003. Effect of covering pig slurry stores on the ammonia emission processes. Bioresour. Technol. 87.3, 199–207.
- Redwine, J., Lacey, R., Mukhtar, S., Carey, J., 2002. Concentration and emissions of ammonia and particulate matter in tunnel-ventilated broiler houses under summer conditions in Texas. Trans. ASAE 45.4, 1101–1109.
- Rico, R., 1995. The US allowance trading system for sulfur dioxide: An update on market experience. Environ. Resour. Econ. 5.2, 115–129.
- Roe, S., Spivey, M., Lindquist, H., Thesing, K., Strait, R., Pechan and Associates, 2004. ESTIMATING AMMONIA EMISSIONS FROM ANTHROPOGENIC NONAGRICULTURAL SOURCES - DRAFT FINAL REPORT. Raleigh, NC.
- Rotz, C., 2004. Management to reduce nitrogen losses in animal production. J. Anim. Sci. 82.13, E119–E137.
- Rotz, C., Oenema, J., 2006. Predicting management effects on ammonia emissions from dairy and beef farms. Trans. ASABE 49.4, 1139–1149.
- Rotz, C., Oenema, J., VanKeulen, H., 2006. Whole farm management to reduce nutrient losses from dairy farms: a simulation study. Appl. Eng. Agric. 22.5, 773.
- Safley, L., Barker, J., Westerman, P., 1992. Loss of nitrogen during sprinkler irrigation of swine lagoon liquid. Bioresour. Technol. 40.1, 7–15.

- Seinfeld, J., Pandis, S., 2012. Atmospheric chemistry and physics: from air pollution to climate change. John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken, NJ.
- Sharpe, R., Harper, L., 1997. Ammonia and nitrous oxide emissions from sprinkler irrigation applications of swine effluent. J. Environ. Qual. 26.6, 1703–1706.
- Shepherd, T., Zhao, Y., Li, H., Stinn, J., Hayes, M., Xin, H., 2015. Environmental assessment of three egg production systems--Part II. Ammonia, greenhouse gas, and particulate matter emissions. Poult. Sci. 94 (3), 534–543.
- Sommer, S., Hutchings, N., 2001. Ammonia emission from field applied manure and its reduction—invited paper. Eur. J. Agron. 15.1, 1–15.
- Sommer, S., Olesen, J., 2000. Modelling ammonia volatilization from animal slurry applied with trail hoses to cereals. Atmos. Environ. 34.15, 2361–2372.
- Stanier, C., Singh, A., Adamski, W., Baek, J., Caughey, M., Carmichael, G., Edgerton, E., 2012. Overview of the LADCO winter nitrate study: hourly ammonia, nitric acid and PM 2.5 composition at an urban and rural site pair during PM 2.5 episodes in the US. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 12.22, 11037–11056.
- Thompson, L., 2011. Breath of Fresh Air: Methods and Obstacles for Achieving Air Pollution Reduction in Washington Factory Farm Communities. Wash. J. Envtl. L. Pol'y 1.1, 130–179.
- Todd, R., Cole, N., Clark, R., 2006. Reducing crude protein in beef cattle diet reduces ammonia emissions from artificial feedyard surfaces. J. Environ. Qual. 35.2, 404– 411.
- Todd, R., Cole, N., Clark, R., 2007. Ammonia emissions from open lot beef cattle feedyards on the southern High Plains, in: Proc. 16th Annual International Emissions Inventory Conference--Emission Inventories: Integration, Analysis, Communication. Raleigh, NC, pp. 1–19.
- Todd, R., Cole, N., Clark, R., Flesch, T., Harper, L., Baek, B., 2008. Ammonia emissions from a beef cattle feedyard on the southern High Plains. Atmos. Environ. 42.28, 6797–6805.
- Todd, R., Cole, N., Harper, L., 2005. Ammonia and gaseous nitrogen emissions from a commercial beef cattle feedyard estimated using the flux-gradient method and N: P ratio analysis, in: Proceedings of State of the Science: Animal Manure and Waste Management. Arlington, VA, pp. 1–8.

- Todd, R., Cole, N., Rhoades, M., Parker, D., Casey, K., 2011. Daily, monthly, seasonal, and annual ammonia emissions from southern High Plains cattle feedyards. J. Environ. Qual. 40.4, 1090–1095.
- Udert, K., Larsen, T., Biebow, M., Gujer, W., 2003. Urea hydrolysis and precipitation dynamics in a urine-collecting system. Water Res. 37.11, 2571–2582.
- USDA-APHIS, 2000. Part II: Reference of 1999 Table Egg Layer Management in the US.
- USDA-APHIS, 2002a. Dairy 2002-- Part II: Changes in the United States Dairy Industry, 1991-2002.
- USDA-APHIS, 2002b. Dairy 2002-- Part 1: Reference of Dairy Health and Management in the United States, 2002.
- USDA-APHIS, 2005a. Poultry '04 -- Part II: Reference of Health and Management of Gamefowl Breeder Flocks in the United States, 2004.
- USDA-APHIS, 2005b. Poultry '04 -- Part III: Reference of Management Practices in Live-Poultry Markets in the United States, 2004.
- USDA-APHIS, 2005c. Poultry 2010 -- Reference of Health and Management Practices on Breeder Chicken Farms in the United States, 2010.
- USDA-APHIS, 2007a. Dairy 2007-- Part V: Changes in Dairy Cattle Health and Management Practices in the United States, 1996-2007.
- USDA-APHIS, 2007b. Dairy 2007-- Part III: Reference of Dairy Cattle Health and Management Practices in the United States, 2007.
- USDA-APHIS, 2007c. Dairy 2007-- Part II: Changes in the US Dairy Cattle Industry, 1991-2007.
- USDA-APHIS, 2007d. Swine 2006 -- Part I: Reference of Swine Health and Management Practices in the United States, 2006.
- USDA-APHIS, 2008a. Swine 2006 -- Part II: Reference of Swine Health and Health Management Practices in the United States, 2006.
- USDA-APHIS, 2008b. Swine 2006 -- Part III: Reference of Swine Health, Productivity, and General Management in the United States, 2006.
- USDA-APHIS, 2008c. Swine 2006 -- Part IV: Changes in the US Pork Industry, 1990-2006.

- USDA-APHIS, 2009a. Beef 2007-2008 -- Part I: Reference of Beef Cow-calf Management Practices in the United States, 2007-08.
- USDA-APHIS, 2009b. Beef 2007-2008-- Part II: Reference of Beef Cow-calf Management Practices in the United States, 2007-08.
- USDA-APHIS, 2009c. Beef 2007-08 -- Part III: Changes in the US Beef Cow-calf Industry, 1993-2008.
- USDA-APHIS, 2011. Poultry 2010: Structure of the US Poultry Industry, 2010.
- USDA-APHIS, 2013a. Feedlot 2011 -- Part I: Management Practices on US Feedlots with a Capacity of 1000 or More Head.
- USDA-APHIS, 2013b. Feedlot 2011 -- Part II: Management Practices on US Feedlots with a capacity of Fewer than 1000 Head.
- USDA-APHIS, 2014a. Layers 2013--Part 1: Reference of Health and Management Practices on Table-Egg Farms in the United States 2013.
- USDA-APHIS, 2014b. Layers 2013 -- Part III: Trends in Health and Management Practices on Table-Egg Farms in the United States, 1999-2013.
- USDA-NASS, 2015. Cattle On Feed: Inventory by Month and Year, 1,000+ Capacity Feedlots, US [WWW Document]. USDA-NASS Charts Maps. URL http://www.usda.gov/nass/PUBS/TODAYRPT/cofd0415.pdf (accessed 5.1.15).
- USEPA, 2004. National Emission Inventory: Ammonia Emissions from Animal Husbandry Operations: Draft Report [WWW Document]. URL http://www.epa.gov/ttnchie1/ap42/ch09/related/nh3inventorydraft_jan2004.pdf (accessed 1.20.15).
- USEPA, 2014. 2012 Annual Report | Constraining ammonia emissions and PM2.5 control efficiencies with a new combination of satellite data, surface observations and adjoint modeling techniques.
- USEPA-OAQPS, 2012. Development of Emissions Estimating Methodologies for Lagoons and Basins at Swine and Dairy Animal Feeding Operations: Draft Document.
- USEPA-OAQPS, 2013. 2011 National Emissions Inventory, version 1, Technical Support Document, November 2013 - DRAFT [WWW Document]. URL http://www3.epa.gov/ttn/chief/net/2011nei/2011_neiv1_tsd_draft.pdf (accessed 2.7.16).

- USEPA-OAQPS, 2015a. 2011 National Emissions Inventory Data & Documentation [WWW Document]. URL http://www.epa.gov/ttnchie1/net/2011inventory.html (accessed 9.11.15).
- USEPA-OAQPS, 2015b. Agriculture Air Monitoring [WWW Document]. Draft Dev. Emiss. Estim. Methodol. Lagoons Draft Dev. Emiss. Estim. Methodol. Broiler Oper. Basins Swine Dairy Anim. Feed. Oper. URL http://www.epa.gov/airquality/agmonitoring/index.html (accessed 9.9.15).
- USEPA-OAQPS, 2015c. 2011 National Emissions Inventory, version 2, Technical Support Document, August 2015 [WWW Document]. URL http://www3.epa.gov/ttn/chief/net/2011nei/nei2011v2_tsd_14aug2015.pdf (accessed 2.7.16).
- Van Der Hoek, K., 1998. Estimating ammonia emission factors in Europe. Atmos. Environ. 32, 315–316.
- VanHorn, H., 1998. Factors affecting manure quantity, quality, and use, in: Proceedings of the Mid-South Ruminant Nutrition Conference. Dallas-Ft. Worth, TX, pp. 9–20.
- Visscher, A., Harper, L., Westerman, P., Liang, Z., Arogo, J., Sharpe, R., VanCleemput, O., 2002. Ammonia emissions from anaerobic swine lagoons: Model development. J. Appl. Meteorol. 41.4, 426–433.
- Webb, J., Menzi, H., Pain, B., 2005. Managing ammonia emissions from livestock production in Europe. Environ. Pollut. 135.3, 399–406.
- Webb, J., Misselbrook, T., 2004. A mass-flow model of ammonia emissions from UK livestock production. Atmos. Environ. 38.14, 2163–2176.
- Weber, R., McMurry, P., Mauldin, R., Tanner, D., Eisele, F., Clarke, A., Kapustin, V., 1999. New particle formation in the remote troposphere: A comparison of observations at various sites. Geophys. Res. Lett. 26, 307–310.
- Wesely, M., Hicks, B., 1977. Some factors that affect the deposition rates of sulfur dioxide and similar gases on vegetation. J. Air Pollut. Control Assoc. 27.11, 1110–1116.
- West, J., Ansari, A., Pandis, S., 1999. Marginal PM25: Nonlinear Aerosol Mass Response to Sulfate Reductions in the Eastern United States. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 49.12, 1415–1424.
- Westerman, P., Huffman, R., Barker, J., 1995. Environmental and agronomic evaluation of applying swine lagoon effluent to coastal bermudagrass for intensive grazing and

hay, in: Proc. of the 7th Int. Symp. on Agricultural and Food Processing Wastes. Chicago, IL, pp. 18–20.

- Xin, H., Gates, R., Green, A., Mitloehner, F., Moore, P., Wathes, C., 2011. Environmental impacts and sustainability of egg production systems. Poult. Sci. 90.1, 263–277.
- Yan, T., Frost, J., Keady, T., Agnew, R., Mayne, C., 2007. Prediction of nitrogen excretion in feces and urine of beef cattle offered diets containing grass silage. J. Anim. Sci. 85.8, 1982–1989.
- Yu, F., 2006. Effect of ammonia on new particle formation: A kinetic H2SO4-H2O-NH3 nucleation model constrained by laboratory measurements. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos.
- Zahn, J., Hatfield, J., Do, Y., DiSpirito, A., 2000. Air pollution from swine production facilities differing in waste management practice. Proc. Water Environ. Fed. 3, 609–634.
- Zhang, R., Rumsey, T., Fadel, J., Arogo, J., Wang, Z., Xin, H., Mansell, G., 2005. Development of an improved process based ammonia emission model for agricultural sources, Lake Michigan Air Directors Consortium. Des Plaines, IL.
- Zhao, Y., Shepherd, T., Li, H., Xin, H., 2015. Environmental assessment of three egg production systems--Part I: Monitoring system and indoor air quality. Poult. Sci. 94 (3), 518–533.

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

SUPPLEMENTAL TABLES

Table S2.1. Sources of data used for model tuning and evaluation for beef, swine, and poultry

Animal	Submodel	Data sources for tuning	Data sources for evaluation
Beef	Housing (feedlot)	1	1, 2
	Application	11	11
Swine	Housing	3	3, 4
	Storage	9	9, 10
	Application	12	12
Broilers	Housing	5	5, 6
	Application	13	13
Layers	Housing	7	7, 8
	Application	14	14

1. (Cole and Defoor, 2006; Hristov et al., 2011; Todd et al., 2008, 2007, 2006, 2005)

2. (Klopfenstein and Erickson, 2002; Todd et al., 2011)

3. (Aarnink et al., 1995; Heber et al., 2000; Hoff et al., 2006; Jacobson and Hetchler, 2005)

- 4. (Arogo et al., 2003)
- 5. (Burns et al., 2007; Lacey et al., 2003)
- 6. (Casey et al., 2003; Coufal and Chavez, 2006)
- 7. (Fabbri et al., 2007; Nicholson et al., 2004)
- 8. (Liang et al., 2005; Nahm, 2003)

9. (Harper and Sharpe, 1998; Lim et al., 2003; Osada et al., 2000; Portejoie et al., 2003; Visscher et al., 2002; Zahn et al., 2000)

10. (Arogo et al., 2003)

- 11. (James, 2008; McGinn and Sommer, 2007)
- 12. (Chantigny et al., 2007; Sharpe and Harper, 1997; Westerman et al., 1995)
- 13. (Pelletier, 2008; Redwine et al., 2002)
- 14. (Sommer and Hutchings, 2001)

STATE	CATTLE ON FEED	CATTLE EXCL COWS	BEEF COWS	TOTAL BEEF	% ON FEED
ALABAMA	0	504,564	722,787	1,227,351	0.0%
ARIZONA	272,175	519,812	197,901	989,888	27.5%
ARKANSAS	235	793,552	813,250	1,607,037	0.0%
CALIFORNIA	488,131	2,971,282	583,594	4,043,007	12.1%
COLORADO	1,009,873	1,816,055	683,291	3,509,219	28.8%
CONNECTICUT	104	22,458	8,080	30,642	0.3%
DELAWARE	2,545	9,880	3,833	16,258	15.7%
FLORIDA	2403	569,313	982,790	1,554,506	0.2%
GEORGIA	0	484,283	469,942	954,225	0.0%
IDAHO	263,466	1,333,755	485,025	2,082,246	12.7%
ILLINOIS	276,130	684,809	343,972	1,304,911	21.2%
INDIANA	76,134	464,497	182,627	723,258	10.5%
IOWA	1,550,523	2,803,358	885,568	5,239,449	29.6%
KANSAS	2,255,701	4,519,961	1,270,538	8,046,200	28.0%
KENTUCKY	21,346	1,214,013	985,075	2,220,434	1.0%
LOUISIANA	0	338,626	434,252	772,878	0.0%
MAINE	2,631	43,634	10,505	56,770	4.6%
MARYLAND	7,851	104,413	39,188	151,452	5.2%
MASSACHUSETTS	442	16,963	6,240	23,645	1.9%
MICHIGAN	148,608	646,096	108,126	902,830	16.5%
MINNESOTA	536,971	1,591,546	357,826	2,486,343	21.6%
MISSISSIPPI	0	411,647	495,381	907,028	0.0%
MISSOURI	85,060	1,926,437	1,683,731	3,695,228	2.3%
MONTANA	52,345	1,180,140	1,439,653	2,672,138	2.0%
NEBRASKA	2,647,855	4,600,935	1,730,112	8,978,902	29.5%
NEVADA	2403	170,688	220,150	393,241	0.6%
NEW HAMPSHIRE	2403	15,843	4,075	22,321	10.8%
NEW JERSEY	362	14,757	9,500	24,619	1.5%
NEW MEXICO	44,936	573,767	461,595	1,080,298	4.2%
NEW YORK	26,976	722,623	86,030	835,629	3.2%
NORTH CAROLINA	2,137	435,561	348,196	785,894	0.3%
NORTH DAKOTA	58,408	910,055	881,682	1,850,145	3.2%
OHIO	164,487	696,487	277,949	1,138,923	14.4%
OKLAHOMA	353,923	2,522,182	1,677,903	4,554,008	7.8%
OREGON	84,657	667,899	504,279	1,256,835	6.7%
PENNSYLVANIA	128,732	945,790	148,249	1,222,771	10.5%
RHODE ISLAND	2403	2,011	1,447	5,861	41.0%
SOUTH CAROLINA	0	114,544	166,745	281,289	0.0%
SOUTH DAKOTA	418,374	2,190,861	1,610,559	4,219,794	9.9%
TENNESSEE	3,042	933,708	874,630	1,811,380	0.2%
TEXAS	2,750,818	6,395,478	4,329,341	13,475,637	20.4%
UTAH	23,857	316,714	369,670	710,241	3.4%
VERMONT	1,593	128,622	11,487	141,702	1.1%
VIRGINIA	20,010	880,457	657,320	1,557,787	1.3%
WASHINGTON	246,170	683,951	211,852	1,141,973	21.6%
WEST VIRGINIA	2,794	213,415	191,398	407,607	0.7%
WISCONSIN	270,342	1,975,688	248,305	2,494,335	10.8%
WYOMING	76,833	637,283	664,254	1,378,370	5.6%
NATIONAL TOTAL	14386189	51,720,413	28,879,903	94,986,505	15.1%

Table S4.1. State by state distribution of cattle on feed.	
--	--

State	Swine	Beef	Dairy	Layers	Broilers
AL	142555	1227351	9116	9435605	172955409
AZ	134000	717713	193621	44123	8451
AR	109316	1606802	8972	12545952	170380435
CA	111893	3554876	1815655	19000779	42268482
со	727301	2499346	130736	4195691	19571
СТ	4737	30538	17740	30912	79605
DE	5891	13713	4512	3133	43206514
FL	14915	1552103	123220	9386611	11031656
GA	153753	954225	79492	17445067	243463943
ID	14894	1818780	578761	655346	9639
IL	4630796	1028781	98849	4327311	115927
IN	3747352	647124	174141	25587222	6238623
IA	20455666	3688926	204757	52218870	1948950
KS	1886197	5790499	131688	91731	17851
KY	313360	2199088	71783	4308549	51189742
IA	6806	772878	16089	1910683	25061453
MF	8923	54139	32117	3531186	47252
MD	19869	143601	50923	2364942	64192426
MA	11151	23203	12500	153925	18137
MI	1099478	754222	376255	12676021	1125601
MN	7606785	19/9372	/63312	96936/8	7765172
MS	401898	907028	14480	5593802	134479892
MO	277/1597	3610168	92952	8276409	16880717
MT	172052	2610703	120/7	464802	80862
NE	2002576	6331047	54628	9351688	008065
	2992370	300838	20/8/	21200	2812
NH	2000	10018	12/7/	21205	28024
NI	7001	24257	7102	15/2600	100/5
	1204	1025262	210070	66652	2020
NV	7/671	808653	610712	5208831	5928
NC	74071 9001424	702757	45060	12001294	149251460
	0901454	105/5/	45900	02754	146251409
	100000	074426	1/0/0	92754	24706
	2036305	974450 420008E	207657	20512092	12194024
	2304740	4200065	40000	3121799	2204796
	112095	1004020	123707	2420907	5294760 2024911E
PA	1020	24059	1200	2014/050	29240115
	1050	2420	1209	4221250	15402
SC	224070	281289	15997	4231250	44290198
SD	147705	3801420	91831	2450780	2040242
	147795	10724010	4/9/8	10/5399	30400743
	800893	10/24819	434928	20902244	10/351698
	/31000	000384	90449	3814859	5029
VI	38/4	140109	134142	212397	48545
VA	239899	153////	94105	289/238	38386310
WA	19861	895803	266989	/236128	/511065
WV	58/3	404813	10095	1113238	14/81332
VVI	311651	2223993	12/0091	5413563	/818682
WY	85432	1301537	6194	26612	4857
USA	65947807	80600316	9249674	3.43E+08	1506271608

Table S4.2. State Animal Populations

SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES



Figure S3.1: Model, literature and NAEMS Observations as a function of temperature with pre- and post-recalibration for NAEMS farms for a) swine storage and b) layer housing. Swine storage and layer housing had the most different emission factors reported from the literature and the NAEMS observations.



Figure S3.2: All measurement-model comparisons for seasonal model performance for dairy housing. Farms all have free-stall barns a) California, b) Indiana, c) New York, d) Washington, and e) Wisconsin.


Figure S3.3: All measurement-model comparisons for seasonal model performance for dairy storage. Farms are of the following production stage and have the following types of housing a) IN5 (lagoon), b) TX5 (drylot), c) WA5 (lagoon), and d) WI5 (lagoon).



Figure S3.4: All measurement-model comparisons for seasonal model performance for swine housing. Farms are of the following production stage and have the following types of housing a) IN3 (deep-pit finishing), b) IA4 (deep-pit gestation), c) NC4 (flush gestation), d) NC3 (flush finishing, and e) OK4 (flush gestation)



Figure S3.5: All measurement-model comparisons for seasonal model performance for swine storage. Farms are of the following production stage and have the following types of housing a) IN4 (lagoon), b) NC4 (lagoon), c) NC3 (lagoon), d) OK4 (lagoon), and e) OK3 (lagoon)



Figure S3.6: All measurement-model comparisons for seasonal model performance for layer housing. Farms have the following types of housing a) CA2 (high-rise), b) IN2B (manure-belt), c) IN2H (high-rise), and d) NC2 (high-rise).



Figure S3.7 All measurement-model comparisons for seasonal model performance for broiler housing. Farms both have litter-based housing and are located in a) CA and b) KY.



Figure S3.8: Daily variability in NAEMS data captured by model for: a free-stall dairy house in Indiana during a) December 2007 and b) July 2008, a free-stall dairy house in New York during c) December 2007 and d) July 2008, and a free-stall dairy house in Washington during e) January 2008 and f) June 2008.



Figure S3.9: Daily variability in NAEMS data captured by model for: a dairy lagoon in Indiana during a) December 2008 and b) June 2008, a dairy basin in Washington during c) March 2008 and d) August 2008, and a dairy lagoon in Wisconsin during e) December 2008 and f) August 2008.



Figure S3.10: Daily variability in NAEMS data captured by model for: a deep-pit swine house in Iowa during a) January 2008 and b) August 2008, a deep-pit swine house in Indiana during c) December 2007 and d) June 2008, a shallow-pit swine house in North Carolina (NC3) during e) December 2007 and f) August 2008, a shallow-pit swine house in North Carolina (NC4) during g) January 2008 and h) July 2008, and a shallow-pit swine house in Oklahoma during i) February 2008 and j) August 2008.



Figure S3.11: Daily variability in NAEMS data captured by model for: a swine basin in lowa during a) January 2008 and b) June 2008, a swine lagoon North Carolina (NC3) during c) February 2008 and d) June 2008, a swine lagoon in North Carolina (NC4) during e) January 2008 and f) September 2008, a swine lagoon Oklahoma (OK3) during g) November-December 2008 and h) July 2008, and a swine lagoon in Oklahoma (OK4) during i) January 2008 and j) July 2008.



Figure S4.1: County-level swine population (2012)



Figure S 4.2: County-level dairy cattle population (2012)



Figure S4.3: County-level beef cattle population (2012)



Figure S4.4: County-level layer chicken population (2012)



Figure S4.5: County-level broiler chicken population (2012)



Figure S4.6: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, and Connecticut. Emissions are shown in tons NH3 per day.



Figure S4.7: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Illinois, and Indiana. Emissions are shown in tons NH₃ per day.



Figure S4.8: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, and Maryland. Emissions are shown in tons NH_3 per day.



Figure S4.9: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, and Montana. Emissions are shown in tons NH₃ per day.



Figure S4.10: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, and New York. Emissions are shown in tons NH₃ per day.



Figure S4.11: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, and Pennsylvania. Emissions are shown in tons NH_3 per day.



Figure S4.12: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, and Utah. Emissions are shown in tons NH_3 per day.



Figure S4.13: State livestock ammonia emissions (2011) by livestock type for Vermont, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and Wyoming. Emissions are shown in tons NH_3 per day.